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  FACTS & FIGURES  

KEY FIGURES

      1.4.2019
to 31.3.2020

1.4.2018
to 31.3.2019

Change in 
percent

Income statement          

           

Rental income CHFm   9.4 8.1 17.0

Net operating income CHFm   8.5 7.4 15.1

Change in market value of investment properties CHFm   0.2 0.6 –63.3

EBITDA CHFm   6.1 3.0 100.6

Earnings CHFm   4.6 6.2 –25.5

EPRA Return on equity %   3.2 4.3 1.1

           

Balance sheet          

Investment properties CHFm   217.9 200.9 8.5

Equity CHFm   133.0 131.7 0.9

Equity Ratio %   59.1 61.6 2.5

EPRA Equity CHFm   146.8 145.0 1.3

EPRA Equity ratio %   65.3 67.8 2.5

Mortgages CHFm   72.8 64.8 12.5

Loan to value %   33.4 32.2 –1.2

           

Key figures per share in CHF          

Earnings of shareholders CHF   1.40 1.87 –25.1

NAV per share CHF   40.10 39.71 1.0

EPRA NAV per share CHF   44.28 43.69 1.4

Share price on reporting date CHF   27.80 23.10 20.3

           

Portfolio          

Annualized rental income CHFm   9.4 8.2 15.3

EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY) %   3.9 3.7 –0.2

Average effective interest rate %   1.0 1.1 0.1

Vacancy rate monetary %   8.2 10.0 1.9

The above key figures are either deduced directly from the consolidated income statement or balance sheet or are explained in the definition of terms or calculated in the EPRA Performance 
Measures.
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  FACTS & FIGURES  

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE

Significant Shareholders

Shareholders as of 31 March 2020

Direct / indirect shareholder     Disclosure according to FinFraG

       

       

Lamesa Holding SA, Panama (Viktor Vekselberg  )   41.65% 41.65% am 27.09.2018

Group of shareholders: Ketom AG, Zug (Norbert Ketterer  ); Wiederkehr Associates AG  , Zurich; 
Dr. Hans-Rudolf and Ursula Schärli    10.21% 10.21% am 16.5.2020

Special Themes SCC Ltd., Valetta, Malta  ; Wiederkehr Associates Funds ("WAF") SICAF-SIF, 
Luxembourg, Luxembourg  (PMG Fonds Management AG, Zürich  )   3.86% 3.86% am 31.3.2020

Person with beneficial ownership / authorised to exercise voting rights.
Wiederkehr Associates AG represents an organized group of shareholders regarding the agreement to exercise voting rights in the sense of article 120 f. according to the Financial Market 
Infrastructure Act (FinfraG) - consisting of the beneficial owners or persons authorised to exercise voting rights - Norbert Ketterer, Wiederkehr Associates AG and Hans-Rudolf and Ursula Schärli. It 
holds 10.21 % of the total voting rights, of which 4.00 % were transferred by a third party for the purpose of exercising voting rights at their own discretion. (notifications from 31 March 2020 and 
16 May 2020 due to changes in the composition of the shareholder group).
100% owned by PMG Fonds Management AG
Asset Manager: PMG Fonds Management AG

1

1 1
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4 1
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    Number of 
shareholders

%   Number of
shares

%

Registered shares            

1 to 10   382 26%   1 264 0%

11 to 50   243 17%   6 653 0%

51 to 100   149 10%   11 033 0%

101 to 500   405 28%   105 486 3%

501 to 10 000   265 18%   395 889 12%

10 001 to 99 540   20 1%   559 739 17%

99 541 (3%) and more   2 0%   1 565 897 47%

Total registered   1 466 100%   2 645 961 80%

Non-registered        672 066 20%

Total shares        3 318 027 100%

Registered shareholders           

Individuals   1 359 93%   534 327 20%

Legal entities   107 7%   2 111 634 80%

Total registered   1 466 100%   2 645 961 100%
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  LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS  

Ladies and Gentlemen,
Continued optimisation was the dominant theme of the 2019/20 financial year for Züblin 
Immobilien Holding AG. The focus at portfolio level was on growth and a reduction in 
vacancies, while administrative costs were cut back further. In what remains a demanding 
market environment, Züblin is maintaining its conservative investment strategy. This is based 
on clearly defined location criteria, a concentration on selected tenant segments and the 
setting of rigorous yield targets.

Solid earnings position

The acquisition of a new investment property in April 2019 together with the reduction in vacancies boosted net 
operating income by CHF 1.1 million to CHF 8.5 million in the year under review (previous year: CHF 7.4 million).

Significant savings were made in personnel and administrative expenses, resulting in a reduction of CHF 1.7 million 
compared with the prior year.

The valuation of the real estate portfolio was impacted by the uncertainty surrounding COVID-19. After an upward 
revaluation of CHF 3.0 million in the first half of the year, market values fell back again at the reporting date, resulting 
in a revaluation effect of CHF 0.2 million (previous year: CHF 0.6 million).

Earnings before taxes (EBT) rose by CHF 2.4 million to CHF 6.2 million.

Due to one-off tax items in the previous year, net earnings at Züblin Immobilien Holding AG fell from CHF 6.2 million 
to CHF 4.6 million in financial year 2019/20, despite the positive operating performance referred to above.

Real estate portfolio

As of 31 March 2020, the Züblin portfolio consists of six office properties in Zurich (5) and Bern (1) and their 
economic catchment areas. The total value increased by CHF 17.0 million to CHF 217.9 million during the financial 
year, mainly due to the new acquisition in Zurich-Oerlikon together with value-enhancing investments.

The main property-related metrics performed well. The reduction in vacancies through a new letting in Berne, various 
lease extensions and the new property all contributed to this. Annualised rental income rose by 15% to CHF 9.4 
million and the occupancy rate went up from 90.0% to 91.8%. The weighted average lease term (WALT) of the rental 
contracts is 3.8 years.

LETTER TO OUR 
SHAREHOLDERS

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Chairman Roland Friederich, CEO/CFO
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  LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS  

Yields remained low on the Swiss real estate market in the 2019/20 financial year, reflecting continued firm demand. 
However, the COVID-19 pandemic and the associated uncertainties shortly before the balance sheet date led to an 
additional risk premium. The CBD located pure office properties in the Züblin portfolio in Zurich were less affected by 
this than the properties in Berne, Baden and Egg.

The restrictions imposed by the Swiss authorities are also affecting the real estate industry. Züblinʼs asset 
management is constantly monitoring the direct and long-term impact of the lockdown on tenants. The aim is to find 
solutions that safeguard revenues via a process of dialogue with affected tenants.

At the time of writing, it is impossible to make a definitive assessment of whether Züblinʼs portfolio will be affected, 
and if so how and on what scale. Thanks to our good tenant structure and quality (see portfolio section), Züblin 
believes that the impact and potential default risk arising from the lockdown on 19 March 2020 will be largely limited 
to the tenant segments of hospitality, retail and sport/leisure activities. These segments account for 8% of annual 
rental income.

Continued low debt and solid financial position

Züblinʼs investment portfolio is funded by a five-year revolving credit facility of CHF 118.0 million of which only CHF 
72.8 million has been drawn. This results in a portfolio loan-to-value ratio (LTV) of 33%. As at 31 March 2020, the 
company held cash and cash equivalents of CHF 5.1 million.

Aiming for a sustainable dividend policy

Given the good operating results and a stable financial position, Züblin resumed paying a dividend to its shareholders 
in 2018. The Board of Directors strives for a sustainable and stable dividend policy. This includes allowing 
shareholders to participate in the operational success of Züblin, while at the same time ensuring that sufficient funds 
are available to facilitate the companyʼs growth. The Board of Directors will propose the distribution of CHF 1.00 per 
registered share from capital reserves to the 2020 Annual General Meeting.

Changes in management

On completion of the companyʼs restructuring and the stabilization of its operating business, Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik 
announced he would step down as CEO with effect from July 14, 2019. The Board of Directors was delighted to be 
able to appoint Roland Friederich, who has held various management positions for over twelve years and has been 
CFO of Züblin since 2016, as Züblinʼs new CEO/CFO.

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors currently consists of Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, elected as new chairman by the 2019 Annual 
General Meeting, Mr. Vladislav Osipov and Dr. Markus Wesnitzer. All three members of the Board of Directors will 
stand for re-election at the 2020 AGM.
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  LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS  

Outlook

Züblinʼs 2020/21 financial year is likely to be adversely affected by COVID-19, as the economic downturn and its 
knock-on effects will impact on existing tenantsʼ businesses, as well as those of potential tenants.

The Board of Directors and Executive Management are committed to responding to the challenging economic 
conditions by actively seeking co-operative solutions to safeguard the companyʼs revenue base. Furthermore, Züblin 
management is reaffirming the measured investment strategy it has adopted in recent years, which is geared towards 
sustainable growth for the benefit of all shareholders.

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher
Chairman

Roland Friederich
CEO / CFO
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  PORTFOLIO  

PORTFOLIO 

Robust portfolio with well-located properties and suitable tenant mix. With the acquisition of 
the Zurich-Oerlikon located property, the portfolio currently comprises of six properties in the 
economic areas of Zurich (5) and Berne (1) with a total value of CHF 217.9 million and rental 
income of CHF 9.4 million.

Portfolio development

As of 31 March 2020, annualised rental income amounted to CHF 9.4 million compared to CHF 8.2 million as of 31 
March 2019. The increase of CHF 1.2 million arises from the acquisition of an additional property and several new 
lease transactions closed in the reporting period.

The vacancy rate declined from 10.0% to 8.2% during the reporting year, whereof 0.8% of the change is attributable 
to the newly acquired property. The weighted average lease term (WALT) of the rental contracts is 3.8 years.

Portfolio valuation

The total value of the portfolio as of 31 March 2020 amounts to CHF 217.9 million, an increase of CHF 17.0 million 
compared to 31 March 2019. 8.5% of the change in value primarily relates to the new acquisition. The portfolio was 
valued as per the reporting date, taking into account any COVID-19 effects. This is particularly reflected in the 
discount and capitalisation rates, which include an additional risk premium. The increase in value of the portfolio 
before new acquisition amounted to 0.7%.

Evaluation of the present market situation

Meanwhile, it is clear that the COVID-19 pandemic will affect various areas. Due to the inertia of the real estate 
markets and the low availability of data, consequences can only be estimated with some delay. The extent to which 

Rental contribution of newly acquired 

property

+ CHF 1 million
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  PORTFOLIO  

this will occur depends on the further course of the pandemic and the effectiveness of government measures to 
support the economy.

Züblinʼs portfolio is sustainably positioned in terms of sectors, uses, location and tenant mix, and has little exposure 
to sectors at risk. Sectors, which are subject to the official order to close the business in connection with COVID-19 
are designated as sectors at risk. A detailed analysis of rental income by type of use shows an allocation of 69% 
office, 9% public services and 3% commercial. The gastronomy and retail sectors, which are sectors at risk due to 
the pandemic, account for around 8% of rental income.

The effects on the transaction market are currently difficult to assess. However, a cautious attitude can be observed 
on both the buyerʼs and the sellerʼs side.

Züblin has sufficient financial resources and a secured credit facility to manage this crisis, as well as to become active 
when interesting opportunities arise. The companyʼs goal remains to maintain a healthy mix of stable rental income, 
value creation and risk in order to achieve the required returns.

Portfolio overview

Analysis of low-risk rental income by 

type of use

    31.03.2020 31.03.2019

       

Market value in CHF million   217.9 200.9

Annualized rental income in CHF million   9.4 8.2

Vacancy rate monetary in %   8.2 10.0

Capitalisation rate   3.3 3.3

Discount rate (nominal)   3.8 3.8
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  PORTFOLIO  

Major tenants

WALT 

overall portfolio

3.8 years

Tenant Sector %

     

Baker & McKenzie, Zurich Law firm 31.2

Roland Berger, Zurich Consulting 14.9

BR Bauhandel AG, Bern Distribution 4.1

Testo Industrial Services AG, Egg Quality control 4.0

Notariat Oerlikon, Zurich Notary 2.8

Total   57.0

P/11    Annual Report 2019/20 Züblin Immobilien Holding AG

(courtesy translation – legally binding is the German version of the Annual Report)



  PORTFOLIO  

Rental contract analysis

Portfolio details

  Year 
of 

Construction

Year 
of 

rennovation

Plot 
size

  Total 
usable 
space

Office Retail/
Gastro

Storage Other   Parking

      sqm   sqm thereof in % of total usable space   Number

                       

Baden Rütistrasse 3/3a 1961 2012 1 172   4 975 69 5 24 2   18

Bern Morgenstrasse 136 1991 2013 2 740   7 937 72 20 2 6   88

Egg Gewerbestrasse 12/12a 1982//87 2012 4 894   5 651 72 0 28 0   110

Zürich Hardturmstrasse 76 1967 2010 1 100   3 747 83 0 17 0   36

Zürich Holbeinstrasse 22/30 1961/72 2009/10 1 660   5 812 95 0 5 0   45

Zürich Hofwiesenstrasse 1972   1 757   3 301 74 7 19 0   40

Total     13 323   31 423          337

All properties are in sole ownership with the exception of Hofwiesenstrasse, in which Züblin Immobilien AG holds a 34% share of condominium ownership.

1

1
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  PORTFOLIO  

Strategic focus

In the course of the restructuring, Zübin initiated steps to develop a strategy in the 2015/16 financial year. These 
included a return to the traditional core markets, the stabilization of the financial and operating basis and ultimately 
growth.

In the year under review, the first acquisition has been achieved with the purchase of an office property in Zurich-
Oerlikon. In addition, Züblin further continues with the necessary measures to support its growth strategy in 
Switzerland, and as a second priority in countries in the rest of German-speaking Europe.

Investment criteria

   

Type of use Office (Core/Core+)

Location
Economic centres including agglomerations in German-speaking Switzerland, second priority 
German-speaking Europe

Property quality Good to very good, with high occupancy

Investment size CHF 5 million to CHF 50 million

Gross initial yield 3.0% - 5.0%

Equity 40 - 50 %
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  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Züblin understands Corporate Covernance as the way in which it organizes corporate 
management. The balance between an efficient decision-making process, transparent and 
open communication as well as the continuous and careful review of company goals ensures 
value creation and long-term oriented corporate success for all Züblin stakeholders. 

Züblin Corporate Governance complies with the guidelines of the “Swiss Code of Best Practice 
for Corporate Governance” and meets the requirements as laid down in the “Directive on 
Information Relating to Corporate Governance” of SIX Swiss Exchange.
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  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

GROUP AND SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE

1. Group structure

Züblin Real Estate Holding Ltd., domiciled in Zurich, is the parent company of the Züblin Group. An overview of all 
Group companies and participations is provided in detail in 

. For a presentation of the operational group structure of Züblin, please also refer to 
section .

2. Shareholder structure

Number of shares registered in the commercial register as of 31 March 2020: 3ʼ318ʼ027

Shareholders as of 31 March 2020

   

Company Züblin Real Estate Holding Ltd.

Domicile Zurich

Listing SIX Swiss Exchange

Market capitalization as of 3/31/2020 CHF 92 million

Securities number 31 230 968

ISIN-Code CH0312309682

1.2 “List of Group companies” of notes to the 
consolidated financial statements

2.5.3 Segment Reporting (IFRS 8)

    Number of 
shareholders

%   Number of
shares

%

Registered shares            

1 to 10   382 26%   1 264 0%

11 to 50   243 17%   6 653 0%

51 to 100   149 10%   11 033 0%

101 to 500   405 28%   105 486 3%

501 to 10 000   265 18%   395 889 12%

10 001 to 99 540   20 1%   559 739 17%

99 541 (3%) and more   2 0%   1 565 897 47%

Total registered   1 466 100%   2 645 961 80%

Non-registered        672 066 20%

Total shares        3 318 027 100%

Registered shareholders           

Individuals   1 359 93%   534 327 20%

Legal entities   107 7%   2 111 634 80%

Total registered   1 466 100%   2 645 961 100%
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  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

Significant shareholders (shareholding interest >3%)

On the reporting date 31 March 2020, Züblin Immobilien Holding AG was aware of the following shareholders 
exceeding a disclosure threshold:

Information on significant shareholders are based on the shareholders register or on notifications received by Züblin. 
A disclosure obligation exists if a person or group is subject to the disclosure requirement when reaching, exceeding 
or falling below the threshold of 3, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 33⅓, 50 or 66⅔ percent of the voting rights of Züblin Immobilien 
Holding AG.  Disclosure reports made during the reporting year in accordance with Art. 120 of the Financial Market 
Infrastructure and Market Conduct in Securities and Derivatives Trading (FinfraG) and the provisions of the Financial 
Market Infrastructure Ordinance (FinfraV) can be viewed on the reporting and publication platform of SIX Swiss 
Exchange ).

After the balance sheet date, there was a significant change in the shareholder structure. We refer to the information 
in the section  of the Corporate Governance Report.

Cross-shareholdings

There are no cross-shareholdings with other companies.

Direct / indirect shareholder   31.3.2020 Disclosure according to FinFraG

       

       

Lamesa Holding SA, Panama (Viktor Vekselberg  )   41.65% 41.65% am 27.09.2018

Ketom AG, Zug (Norbert Ketterer  )   5.55% 5.55% am 21.09.2016

Special Themes SCC Ltd., Valetta, Malta  ; Wiederkehr Associates Funds ("WAF") SICAF-SIF, 
Luxembourg, Luxembourg  (PMG Fonds Management AG, Zürich  )   3.86% 3.86% am 31.3.2020

Group of shareholders: Wiederkehr Associates AG, Zurich, Dr. Hans-Rudolf and Ursula Schärli   3.68% 3.68% am 31.3.2020

Person with beneficial ownership / authorised to exercise voting rights.
100% owned by PMG Fonds Management AG
Asset Manager: PMG Fonds Management AG
Wiederkehr Associates AG represents an organized group of shareholders regarding the agreement to exercise voting rights in accordance with article 120 f. of the Financial Market Infrastructure 
Act (FinMIA) - consisting of the beneficial owners or persons authorized to exercise voting rights - Wiederkehr Associates AG and Hans-Rudolf and Ursula Schärli. The group owns 3.68 % of the 
total voting rights, of which 3.01 % were transferred by a third party for the purpose of exercising voting rights at their own discretion. (Report dated 31 March 2020).

1

1

2

3 1

4

1
2
3
4

(https://www.six-exchange-regulation.com/de/home/publications/significant-shareholders.html

“Changes since the balance sheet date”
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

1. Share capital as of 31 March 2020

The registered shares (Namenaktien) are unitary shares, giving all shareholders the same rights in the companyʼs 
capital and the same participation rights. There are no restrictions on transferability. Only shareholders listed in the 
share register may exercise their participation rights. Shareholders are listed with voting rights in the share register if 
they explicitly declare that they have acquired the shares in their own name and for their own account. The voting 
and other rights of treasury shares are suspended.

The shares take the form of book-entry securities, and are not documented in a multiple share document, in 
certificates, in an individual share document or in any other form. Shareholders are not entitled to request delivery of 
a share certificate, but may request confirmation of their status as a shareholder from the Company at any time. The 
Company maintains a book-entry security ledger in accordance with Art. 973c of the Swiss Code of Obligations.

For the exact wording of the regulations, please refer to the Companyʼs articles of association, which are available on 
the Companyʼs website  or can be ordered directly from the 
Company.

2. Authorized and Conditional Capital

2.1 Authorized share capital

Following the approval of the shareholders at the AGM on 18 June 2019 the Board of Directors is authorized until 18 
June 2021 to increase the share capital by a maximum amount of CHF 37ʼ327ʼ792.50 by issuance of a maximum 
number of 1ʼ659ʼ013 fully paid up registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 22.50 each. The authorized capital 
amounts to CHF 37ʼ327ʼ792.50, which corresponds to 50% of the existing share capital.

2.2 Conditional share capital

Following the approval of the Shareholders at the EGM on 29 February 2016 the Board of Directors is authorized to 
increase the share capital by issuing up to 164ʼ444 fully paid up registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 22.50 
each, representing a maximum nominal value of altogether CHF 3ʼ699ʼ990 by exercising option rights, which may be 
granted to employees or members of the Board of Directors of the company or one of its Group companies 
according to the compensation plan approved by the Board of Directors. The conditional capital amounts to CHF 
3ʼ699ʼ990.00, which corresponds to 4.96% of the existing share capital.

3. Changes in share capital in the past three years

There have been no changes in share capital in the last three reporting years.

4./5. Shares and participation certificates/Profit-sharing certificates

The 3ʼ318ʼ027 registered shares referred to in section 1 (“Share capital as of 31 March 2020”) are fully paid up. Each 
share entitles the holder to receive dividends. Voting rights are explained in section 6 (“Limitations on transferability 
and nominee registrations”). There are no preferential rights or similar entitlements.

   

Ordinary Capital CHF 74 655 607.50

  divided into 3 318 027 registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 22.50 per share.

https://www.zueblin.ch/unternehmen/#formelles
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  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

As of 31 March 2020, there were no participation or profit-sharing certificates outstanding.

6. Limitations on transferability and nominee registrations

The Companyʼs shares are freely transferable without any restrictions. A share register is maintained for the 
registered shareholders, which records the first and last names, address and nationality (registered office in the case 
of legal entities) of the shareholders and beneficiaries. Only those listed in the share register are recognized by the 
Company as shareholders or beneficiaries.

Purchasers of registered shares or a rightful ownership to registered shares will, on request, be listed in the share 
register as shareholders or beneficiaries with voting rights if they make an explicit declaration that they have acquired 
the shares or the usufruct to the shares in their own names and for their own account. If the purchaser is not 
prepared to make this declaration, the Board of Directors may refuse registration with voting rights. This restriction on 
registration also applies to shares which are subscribed or acquired by exercising a subscription, option or 
conversion right.

7. Convertible bonds and options

As of 31 March 2020, there were no convertible bonds or options of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG outstanding.
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  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors determines the Companyʼs guiding principles and strategic direction. It 
is the Companyʼs ultimate governing body and is therefore responsible for overseeing the 
Executive Management. Since the last AGM there were no personnel changes in the Board of 
Directors.

The following list provides an overview of the members of the Board of Directors as of 31 March 2019.

As representative of Lamesa Holding SA, Vladislav Osipov was the only non-independent director on 31 March 2020.

       

  Member since Elected until AGM Committees

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Member 2014 2020 A, B, C

1965, Swiss national      

Lawyer/partner at Wenger & Vieli      

Director at Alegra Capital AG, UCC Holding AG, Milestone Capital AG and various 
mandates in Family Offices      

       

Vladislav Osipov, Member 2012 2020 A, B, C

1971, Swiss/Russian national      

Managing Director of Centiveo AG, Zurich      

Representative of Lamesa Holding SA, Panama      

       

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member 2006 2020 A, B, C

1963, German national      

Director of ICN Immobilien Consult Nurnberg, responsible for real estate portfolios of the 
Schickedanz Group      

       

A = Member Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee (NCC)  
B = Member Audit Committee (AC)  
C = Member Investment & Strategic Committee (IC)  
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1./2. Members of the Board of Directors/Other activities and interests

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher 

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher joined the Board of Directors in 2014 and was newly elected Chairman of the Board of 
Directors by the AGM on 18 June 2019. In addition, he chairs the Nomination/Compensation Committee (NCC) and 
is a member of the Audit (AC) and the Investment Committee (IC).

Dr. Zürcher holds a doctorate in law from the University of Zurich and a Master of Laws (LL.M.) from the University 
College London. He works as an attorney at Wenger & Vieli law firm and is a board member of various listed and 
non-listed companies. Dr. Zürcher is also a notary of the Canton of Zug and a recognized representative on the SIX 
Swiss Exchange. 
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Vladislav Osipov

Dipl. Ing. Vladislav Osipov joined the Board of Directors of Züblin in 2012. He is Chairman of the Audit Committee 
(AC) and a member of the Nomination/Compensation & Corporate Governance Committee (NCC) as well as the 
Investment Committee (IC).

Vladislav Osipov studied Engineering at the Moscow Aviation Institute. He holds both a Masterʼs degree in 
Electromechanical Engineering as well as in Economics & Finance from the International University of Moscow. 
Between 1994 and 2005 he held various management positions as Financial Controller and Risk Manager within the 
ABB Group in Germany and Russia. In addition to various management positions with Swiss companies – including 
Coalco AG – he managed the Swiss Family Office of a global metal and real estate group. Since 2010 he has been 
Managing Director of Centiveo AG, a Family Office Management Company based in Zurich. Mr. Osipov represents 
the interests of Züblinʼs major shareholder on the Board of Directors.
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Dr. Markus Wesnitzer

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer joined the Board of Directors of Züblin in 2006. He is the Chairman of the Investment 
Committee (IC) as well as member of the Audit (AC) and the Nomination/Compensation & Corporate Governance 
Committee (NCC).

Dr. Wesnitzer studied Economics at the University of Erlangen-Nürnberg and obtained a PhD at University of 
Bamberg. Since 1996, he has been responsible for the Real Estate Division at Schickedanz Holding in Fürth. In the 
year 2000, he joined the Executive Board of ICN Immobilien Consult Nuremberg, where he has been responsible for 
acquisitions and commercial and technical portfolio management since then. As a real estate family office, ICN 
manages a portfolio focusing on office and retail properties in major German cities and Switzerland.

None of the current Directors held executive office within the Züblin Group or has had a significant business 
relationship for the past three reporting periods. For further information see  “Related parties”, in the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements of the Züblin Group

Note 5.12
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3. Ordinance against excessive pay in listed companies (VegüV)

Under the Companyʼs articles of association (Art. 21), the members of the Board of Directors may not hold more than 
15 other directorships, of which no more than 5 may be in listed companies.

4. Elections and terms of office

4.1 Board of Directors

The members of the Board of Directors are elected individually by the AGM for a term of office of one year, with the 
Chairman of the Board being elected at the same time. As a rule the members of the Board of Directors step down 
when they reach the age of 70. The Board of Directors of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG is currently made up of three 
non-executive directors. There are currently no interlocking memberships on other boards of directors.

4.2 Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee (NCC)

The members of the NCC are elected individually by the AGM for a term of office of one year.

4.3 Other Committees

The other committees and their members (AC/IC) are elected for a one-year term of office at a constitutive Board 
Meeting following the AGM.

5. Internal organization

5.1 Allocation of responsibilities within the Board of Directors

The roles of Vice-President and Delegate of the Board of Directors do not exist. A division of responsibilities within 
the Board of Directors is not envisaged.

5.2 Board committees, their responsibilities and powers

The task of the committees is to prepare the groundwork for decisions by the full Board. Decisions are taken by 
majority vote.

5.2.1 Audit Committee (AC)
The Chairman of the Audit Committee is Vladislav Osipov. The other members are Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher and Dr. 
Markus Wesnitzer. The Audit Committee supervises the Executive Management with regard to implementation of 
corporate strategy, compliance with statutory and other regulations, internal regulations and directives, and risk 
management. It also supervises the auditors, and reviews the results of the annual audit as well as the accounting 
principles and financial control mechanisms.

5.2.2 Nomination, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee (NCC)
The Chairman of the NCC is Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher. The other members are Vladislav Osipov and Dr. Markus 
Wesnitzer. The NCC lays down the principles for the compensation of the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Management, including the definition of individual targets for the Executive Management which form the basis for the 
operating performance bonus. NCC is also responsible for the appointment and dismissal of the members of the 
Executive Management and Board Members of subsidiary companies.

5.2.3 Investment and Strategy Committee (IC)
The Chairman of the IC is Dr. Markus Wesnitzer. Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher and Vladislav Osipov act as members. The 
Committee monitors compliance with the processes for purchases and sales of properties and ensures the strategic 
investment guidelines are implemented.
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5.3 Work methods of the Board of Directors and its committees

The Board of Directors convenes  physically, by telephone or in the form of video conferencing as as often as 
business requires. For the financial year 2019/20 the Board of Directors met for seven ordinary as well as 
two extraordinary meetings. On average, the meetings last five hours. The Board of Directors is quorate when a 
majority of its members are present. Decisions are taken by majority vote. In the event of a tied vote, the Chairman 
has the casting vote. E.o. meetings of the Board of Directors are convened pysically or in the form of calls or 
videoconferencing and decisions taken by circular resolution if required. Minutes are taken of Board meetings and 
conference calls; decisions taken by circular resolution are recorded in the minutes of the following meeting. 
Executive Management usually participates in the meetings of the Board of Directors.

Meetings of the AC take place primarily in preparation for the annual and semi-annual reports or if particular 
transactions so require. In financial year 2019/20 the AC met twice for an average duration of two hours.

Meetings of the NCC are held primarily with regard to setting the compensation for the Board of Directors and 
Executive Management. The NCC met four times in the financial year 2019/20 for an average duration of two 
hours. In the year under review, no external advisors were consulted for the determination of compensation, stock 
option programs or other compensation relevant mandates.

Meetings of the IC mainly take place in connection with the acquisition of properties. During the reporting period, the 
IC met twice for a duration of two hours. In addition, the IC met for a strategy related workshop.

The attendance rate at Board and Committee meetings was 100%.

 

1

1
Board Meetings as well as meetings of all Committees were held as Calls and/or Video Conferences as of 19 March 2020
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6. Definition of areas of responsibility

The organization of the Board of Directors and Executive Management is governed by the organizational rules and 
regulations approved by the Board of Directors in July 2015 and is reproduced in summary form below.

The non-transferable duties of the Board of Directors are listed in detail in the articles of association under article 16 
(available on the Companyʼs website www.zueblin.ch or directly from the company). In its role as the companyʼs 
ultimate governing body, the Board of Directors is responsible for:

The processes applying to the purchase of real estate are dealt with separately. The Board of Directors has drawn up 
guidelines for these purchases, which govern investment targets, performance and quality specifications. The Board 
of Directors takes all decisions on the purchase and sale of real estate on the basis of proposals from Executive 
Management. The approval of the Board of Directors is always required in cases when an acquisition is connected 
with a capital increase or the issuance of a bond.

All other duties, in particular the management of the ongoing operating business, are the responsibility of Executive 
Management. Executive Management submits a budget with a three-year business plan (including a budget for 
property renovations) to the Board of Directors every year and is responsible for implementing it once it has been 
agreed. Regulations governing approval limits also stipulate which financial decisions can be taken by Executive 
Management and which have to be submitted to the Board of Directors.

7. Information and control instruments vis-à-vis Executive Management

Executive Management submits regular structured reports to the Board of Directors. The flow of information between 
the Board of Diretors and Executive Management is also assured by virtue of the fact that Executive Management 
usually attends the meetings of the Board of Directors.

Following information and control instruments are available to the Board of Directors:

Due to its size the company does not have an internal audit function. If any reviews or investigations are required 
Züblin therefore commissions third parties or external auditors to perform these. However, no such instances 
occurred during the reporting year.

maintaining overall oversight of the company and laying down its organizational structure•
structuring accounting, financial planning and financial control•
appointing and dismissing members of the companyʼs management and persons empowered to represent the 
company and stipulating their signature powers

•

supervising and overseeing the activities of Executive Management, appointing and dismissing members of 
Executive Management including with regard to their compliance with the law, articles of association, regulations 
and directives

•

preparation of the annual report and the Annual General Meeting and subsequent implementation of its 
resolutions

•

Group consolidation including comparison with previous year and budget as well as an analysis of any deviations 
(quarterly management information system)

•

Reports on financing activities including cash management•
Detailed reports from Executive Management on the development of the portfolio•
Risk management system (quarterly risk sensitivity analysis broken down into property market and financing risks). 
For further information on risk management, please refer to the notes in the consolidated financial statements, 
section 3.

•

ICS – Internal Control System.•
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

1./2. Members of the Executive Management/Other activities and interests

Roland Friederich, CFO

(1972) German national, born in Kirchheim u. Teck (GER), resident in Berlin.
Roland Friederich joined the German Züblin subsidiary ZIAG Immobilien AG in Düsseldorf in 2008 as Head of Finance 
& Controlling. As of 2014 he took over additional responsibilities for Züblinʼs reporting on group level. Since 1 
December 2016 Roland Friederich is the companyʼs CFO. On 15 July 2019, he was appointed CEO/CFO of Züblin 
Immobilien Holding AG in Zurich, with responsibility for the operational management of the company.
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Roland Friederich studied Finance & Economy at Fachhochschule Nürtingen/German as well as at University of 
California, Berkeley/USA. He joined Arthur Andersen as auditor in Berlin in 2000; later he joined Ernst & Young in 
Berlin as Manager, heading audit teams for several real estate companies. 2008 Roland Friederich joined Züblinʼs 
German subsidiary ZIAG Immobilien AG in Düsseldorf as Head of Finance & Controlling. As of 2014 he took over 
additional responsibilities for Züblinʼs reporting on group level. As of 1 December 2016 Roland Friederich was 
appointed CFO of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG in Zürich. Mr. Friederich does not exercise any significant functions 
in addition to his activities for the Züblin Group.

3. Other functions & positions

Under the Companyʼs articles of association (Art. 21 
, the members of the Executive Management may not hold more than 15 other 

directorships, of which no more than 5 may be in listed companies.

4. Management contracts

There are no management contracts with companies outside the Group.

5. Compensation, shareholdings and loans

All disclosures concerning compensation, shareholdings and loans are set out in the  and its 
respective notes.

https://www.zueblin.ch/downloads/pdfs/statuten/zihag-
statuten-stand-18.06.2019

Compensation Report
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SHAREHOLDERSʼ PARTICIPATION RIGHTS

1. Voting rights and representation restrictions

The registered shares of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG are unitary shares, giving all shareholders the same 
participation rights. Every share whose holder or beneficiary is listed in the share register as a shareholder with voting 
rights has one vote. There are no restrictions on voting rights.

Shareholders in Swiss stock companies enjoy a range of participation and protective rights. The protective rights 
include, among other things, the right to information and the right of inspection (Art. 696, 697 Swiss Code of 
Obligations/CO), the right to initiate a special audit (Art. 697a CO), the right to convene a General Meeting (Art. 699/III 
CO), the right to put items on the agenda of the General Meeting (Art. 699/III CO), the right to challenge resolutions 
made by the General Meeting (Art. 706 CO) and the right to sue for damages (Art. 752 ff. CO). Participation rights 
primarily include the right to attend the Annual General Meeting, freedom to express an opinion, and the right to vote 
(Art. 694 CO). The articles of the Swiss Code of Obligations can be found at , while the articles of 
association of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG are available at .

Shareholders may only be represented at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) by their legal representative, by another 
person participating in the AGM who is registered in the share register with voting rights, or by an independent proxy 
voter. The company has mechanisms in place to allow shareholders to issue authorities and instructions to the 
independent proxy voter electronically.

2. Statutory quorums

There are no statutory quorums that go beyond the statutory provisions on the passing of resolutions (Art. 703 and 
704 CO).

3. Convocation of the AGM

The AGM is held within six months of the end of the financial year. The AGM is convened, the agenda drawn up and 
the resolutions passed in accordance with statutory regulations.

4. Inclusion of items on the agenda

Shareholders who individually or jointly hold shares with a nominal value of at least CHF 1ʼ000ʼ000 at the time of the 
request also have a right to request that items be included on the agenda. The request for inclusion of items on the 
agenda and the proposed motions must be submitted to the Board of Directors no later than 45 days before an 
AGM.

5. Registration in the share register

The cut-off date for registration in the share register with regard to taking part in the AGM will be notified to 
shareholders in the invitation to the 30th AGM to be held on 17 June 2020. The cut-off date is 9 June 2020.

The invitation to the AGM will be sent to shareholders at least 20 days in advance.

www.admin.ch
www.zueblin.ch/en/company/#formelles
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CHANGE OF CONTROL AND DEFENCE 
MEASURES

1. Duty to make an offer

Under Art. 135 para. 1 of the Federal Act on Financial Market Infrastructures and Market Conduct in Securities and 
Derivatives Trading (FinfraG), anyone whose direct or indirect shareholdings exceed 33 ⅓% of the voting rights is 
required to make a public tender offer for the company. The companyʼs articles of association contain neither an 
“opting-out” nor an “opting-up” clause. Under Art. 132 of FinfraG, if a public takeover offer has been made, the 
Board of Directors is required to provide shareholders with the information required to assess the offer. Moreover, the 
Board of Directors may not carry out any transactions that would have a significant impact on the assets or liabilities 
of the company during this period. This restriction does not apply to resolutions of the AGM. The provisions of 
FinfraG can be viewed at .

2. Change of control clauses

None of the members of the Board of Directors or the Executive Management has a change of control clause in their 
contracts.

www.admin.ch
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AUDITORS AND INDEPENDENT REAL ESTATE 
APPRAISERS

1. Auditors

1.1 Duration of the mandate and term of office of the lead auditor

1.1.1 Date of assumption of the existing mandate
Ernst & Young AG (EY), Zurich, has audited the Züblin Group and Züblin Immobilien Holding AG since 1998. The 
auditors are elected annually by the AGM. The audit mandate is periodically re-tendered. This was last done in May 
2018.

1.1.2 Date on which the lead auditor took up office
Mr Edgar Christen is the lead auditor since the financial year 2019/20. His maximum term of office shall be seven 
years. The rotation cycle complies with the legal regulations.

2. Audit fees

The fees paid to EY in financial year 2019/20 were CHF 71ʼ000.

3. Additional fees

In financial year 2019/20, EY provided additional services related to a review of the semi-annual report as of 30 
September 2019 in the amount of CHF 6ʼ000.

4. Informational instruments pertaining to the external audit

The Board of Directors is responsible for the supervision and control of the auditors and performs this task together 
with the Audit Committee (AC) as well as the Executive Management. Board of Directors/ACs and the Executive 
Management meet for this purpose at least once a year.

In addition to the experience gained from the long-lasting cooperation, ACʼs performance assessement of the 
auditors includes the duration and cooperation of the annual audit, their interaction with the responsible employees, 
the depth of the audit of individual business transactions as well as the content of the written report to the Board of 
Directors.

The AC maintains direct contact with the auditors and exchanges information with them on all matters within the 
ambit of the AC. The AC is also responsible for monitoring the performance of the external auditors and reviews their 
independence on an ongoing basis. In addition, the AC monitors whether, and how, Executive Management 
implements measures that have been adopted on the basis of findings by the external auditors. The AC can also task 
the statutory auditors with additional audit duties, particularly with regard to specified key risks.

The external auditors notify the AC of their findings with regard to the annual reports in the form of a management 
presentation and a respective report. The audit results are examined and discussed in detail with the external 
auditors. These results form the basis for improvements to internal procedures and auditing processes.

The AC reports to the Board of Directors on the discussions that the Committee has held with the external auditors 
and informs it of the most important findings and action taken.
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During financial year 2019/20, representatives of the external auditors participated in the AC meeting at its invitation 
twice. These meetings were held together with the Executive Management. There were no indications that the 
independence of the external auditors is in any way compromised.

5. Independent real estate appraisers

The open market value of each property in the Züblin portfolio is calculated by external, independent specialists on 
30 September (semi-annual report) and 31 March (annual report). This procedure complies with the regulations laid 
down in IAS 40 (Investment Property) and IFRS 13, which are applied by the Züblin Group. Since October 2014 JLL 
appraises the entire portfolio. JLL valued all of the properties as at 31 March 2020 and the results of these valuations 
were used in the financial statements. JLL uses the discounted cash flow method for its property valuations. In this 
method the current market value of each property is determined by calculating or estimating its future revenues and 
expenses and discounting these over the forecast horizon. In financial year 2019/20 the fees for the real estate 
appraisers amounted to CHF40ʼ000. No additional consulting services were provided.

P/32    Annual Report 2019/20 Züblin Immobilien Holding AG

(courtesy translation – legally binding is the German version of the Annual Report)



  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

INFORMATION POLICY

1. Main vehicles

Züblin Immobilien Holding AG is committed to ensuring that its shareholders and the capital markets receive open, 
up-to-date and transparent information. The main vehicles for disseminating information are the annual and semi-
annual reports, the corporate website , press releases, the results presentation for the media and 
analysts and the AGM. 

2. Main dates for the release of information

As a listed company, Züblin Immobilien Holding AG is required under the Listing Rules of the SIX Swiss Exchange 
( ) to disclose information that may affect its share price.

For Investor Relations queries, please contact:

Roland Friederich, CEO/CFO
Phone +41 44 206 29 39

www.zueblin.ch

Balance sheet date 2019/20, 31 March 2020•
Publication of annual results 2019/20 as of 31 March 2020, Tuesday 19 May 2020•
31st ordinary Annual General Meeting, Wednesday 17 June 2020•
Publication of the semi-annual results 2020/21 will be published on the companyʼs website •

www.six-exchange-regulation.com

investor.relations@zueblin.ch
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CHANGES SINCE THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

After the balance sheet date, there was a significant change in the shareholder structure. On 16 May 2020, a 
disclosure notice was issued which can be viewed in full on the reporting and publication platform of the SIX Swiss 
Exchange ( ). 
According to this notification, Züblin is aware of the following list of shareholders who exceed a disclosure threshold 
at the editorial deadline:

Significant shareholders (shareholding interest >3%)

https://www.ser-ag.com/de/resources/notifications-market-participants/significant-shareholders.html#/

Direct / indirect shareholder     Disclosure according to FinFraG

       

       

Lamesa Holding SA, Panama (Viktor Vekselberg  )   41.65% 41.65% am 27.09.2018

Group of shareholders: Ketom AG, Zug (Norbert Ketterer  ); Wiederkehr Associates AG  , Zurich; 
Dr. Hans-Rudolf and Ursula Schärli    10.21% 10.21% am 16.5.2020

Special Themes SCC Ltd., Valetta, Malta  ; Wiederkehr Associates Funds ("WAF") SICAF-SIF, 
Luxembourg, Luxembourg  (PMG Fonds Management AG, Zürich  )   3.86% 3.86% am 31.3.2020

Person with beneficial ownership / authorised to exercise voting rights.
Wiederkehr Associates AG represents an organized group of shareholders regarding the agreement to exercise voting rights in the sense of article 120 f. according to the Financial Market 
Infrastructure Act (FinfraG) - consisting of the beneficial owners or persons authorised to exercise voting rights - Norbert Ketterer, Wiederkehr Associates AG and Hans-Rudolf and Ursula Schärli. It 
holds 10.21 % of the total voting rights, of which 4.00 % were transferred by a third party for the purpose of exercising voting rights at their own discretion. (notifications from 31 March 2020 and 
16 May 2020 due to changes in the composition of the shareholder group).
100% owned by PMG Fonds Management AG
Asset Manager: PMG Fonds Management AG

1
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COMPENSATION PPRINCIPLES

1. Compensation principles

The principles of the compensation system for the Board of Directors and management of Züblin Immobilien Holding 
AG are set out in the articles of association and contain the following features (see article 20ff. of the articles of 
association):

2. Setting of compensation

2.1 Nomination and Compensation Committee (NCC)

In accordance with article 18 of the articles of association, the NCC is comprised of at least two members of the 
Board of Directors. They are elected annually by the AGM for a period of one year until the next AGM. The NCC 
assists the Board of Directors in setting the compensation scheme, makes recommendations on compensation 
levels for both the Board of Directors as well as Executive Management and draws up corresponding proposals for 
the AGM.

In financial year 2019/20 the members of the NCC took part in all its meetings. Executive Management took part in 
the meetings in an advisory capacity. They left the meeting when their own compensation was being discussed. The 
chairman of the NCC reports to the Board of Directors on the committeeʼs deliberations after each of its meetings. 
The minutes of the NCCʼs meetings are available to all members of the Board of Directors.

For more details relating to the members of the NCC and the committeeʼs other responsibilities please refer to the 
Corporate Governance Report.

2.2 Procedures for setting compensation

The make-up and level of Board of Directors and Executive Management compensation is reviewed periodically and 
is made based on the sectoral and labour market environment in which Züblin Immobilien competes for and hires 
talent. Moreover, the companyʼs financial performance and the extent to which individual job requirements and 
performance targets have been met are also considered in the NCCʼs decision on the compensation levels of the 
Executive Management.

The compensation of the members of the Board of Directors and management is determined by the Board of 
Directors on the basis of a proposal from the Compensation Committee.

•

The compensation policy is intended to ensure the independence of the Board of Directors in exercising its control 
function and is based largely on fixed cash remuneration. In addition, the compensation model may include a 
variable compensation component in the form of cash or restricted shares.

•

For management the compensation scheme is intended to ensure that talented managers can be recruited, 
retained and motivated. Members of management receive fixed cash renumeration, a share based compensation 
component which is awarded in restricted shares and a variable performance-related compensation which may 
be awarded in cash and/or in shares.

•

The AGM will have to approve on a prospective basis on a binding resolution on the maximum compensation 
ceiling for the Board of Directors (for the period until the next AGM) and for the Group Management (for the next 
financial year).

•

The articles of association also stipulate a maximum supplementary amount of compensation for members of 
management who are appointed after the AGM has voted on compensation. 

•

Further more the articles of association contain details on the procedure to be followed in the event that the 
compensation proposals are rejected by the AGM.

•
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2.3 Compensation structure

The compensation of members of the Board of Directors is made up of the following components, with the fixed 
cash component the main element:

Compensation of the Board of Directors

System: The compensation of members of the Board of Directors may contain of the following components, of 
which the fixed cash portion prevails.

Base salary: Each member of the Board of Directors receives a base salary for their term of office. It is set in 
advance and is the same for all members of the Board of Directors apart from the Chairman. Membership of board 
committees is not remunerated separately. The annual fixed remuneration is paid in cash on quartely basis. If a 
member leaves the Board of Directors during their term of office the fixed remuneration is paid pro rata up to the end 
of the month in which they leave the board. The remuneration determined in the above manner is paid out quarterly 
after the approval of the overall amount by the AGM. The annual fixed remuneration of the Chairman and the 
members of the Board is irrespective of the number of board meetings. In addition, members of the Board of 
Directors receive lump-sum expenses (CHF 6ʼ500 for the Chairman and CHF 5ʼ000 each for Board Members) and 
reimbursement of their expenses incurred in connection with board meetings. No attendance fees are paid to the 
Board of Directors of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG. No non-executive member of the Board of Directors is covered 
by an occupational pension scheme.

The work of board members on the boards of the subsidiaries is paid in cash as fixed remuneration. This takes the 
form either of a fixed annual amount or an attendance fee depending on the company.

Shares: In accordance with the articles of association members of the Board of Directors may receive part of their 
compensation in the form of variable, share-based compensation. In the course of its periodic reviews during the 
year under review, the Compensation Committee (NCC) re-assessed the existing compensation model and its 
system considering the current size of the company. Based on the recommendation of the NCC, the Board of 
Directors has decided not to implement a long-term, share-based compensation component for the time being. 

Compensation in the year under review: The effective compensation of the Board of Directors is set out in the 
compensation report. 

                   

  Instrument   Objective   Influences  
Performance 
targets   Amount

Base Salary

Salary 
payment

 

BoD-
Compensation

 

Position, 
standard
market 
remuneration      

Chairman 
CHF 150 000
Member 
CHF 70 000

Shares  
(e.g. Restricted Share
Units)

RSUs with 
vesting
period of up 
to 
3 years and 
sequen-
tial allotment
of shares 
plus 
leverage 
factor  

Share-based
compensation 
aligned with 
shareholder 
interest  

Share price 
performance
relative to 
peer
group over a 
multi-year
period  

Increase in 
share price,
outperformance 
of peer group  

max. 75% of 
base salary

                   

A share-based remuneration component is currently waived

1

1
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Compensation of Executive Management

The compensation of the members of the Executive Management may comprise of the following components:

Annual base salary: The members of Executive Management receive a fixed annual remuneration in cash which is 
determined by the NCC for the financial year (1 April until 31 March of the following year). This fixed remuneration is 
determined individually, taking into account the criteria set out above and the function and responsibilities of the 
individual member of the Executive Management. Compensation should however be at market, whereby industry 
specific assessment criteria and systems are applied and key figures such as turnover, capital employed or number 
of employees of comparable – primarily listed – real estate companies in Switzerland are taken into account for 
comparison purposes.

Short-term variable compensation (bonus): The short-term variable component (bonus) for members of the 
Executive Management consists of the “Operating Performance Bonus” and the “Return on Equity Bonus”. As a rule, 
the bonus should be limited to a maximum of 50% of the annual base salary, but may also be higher.

The Operating performance bonus may amount to a maximum of 25% of annual base salary and depends on the 
individual performance achieved by the management member. Individual performance is evaluated by means of the 
annual “management by objectives” process (MbO). Individual targets are set and approved by the Board of 
Directors at the beginning of the year and at the end of the year these are then compared with the actual 
performance. The operating performance bonus is then calculated on the basis of the achievement level of the 
targets, taking account of the weighting of the components. The operating performance bonus is not paid if the 
Company records an overall net loss.

The Return on equity bonus (RoE bonus) may amount to a maximum of 25% of annual base salary and depends 
on the net result for the financial year. It is based on the Groupʼs RoE including changes in the market value of 
properties and profits and losses on sales of investment properties.

The Board of Directors defines a performance matrix with an upper and lower RoE performance threshold. The lower 
threshold corresponds to the budgeted RoE for the financial year. If the lower RoE performance threshold is not met, 
the RoE bonus is reduced to zero. For results above the lower RoE threshold, a growing proportion of the RoE bonus 
is paid as the Companyʼs earnings increase. If the upper RoE performance threshold is met or exceeded, the RoE 
bonus reaches its maximum of 25% of the annual base salary. The performance matrix is reviewed and adjusted by 
the Board of Directors periodically.

                   

  Instrument   Objective   Influence  
Performance 
targets   Target

                 

(in % of the 
annual base 
salary)

Annual base salary

Monthly 
salary 
payment  

Acquisition 
and 
retention of 
staff  

Position, 
standard
market 
remun-
eration, 
individual 
qualifications 
and 
competence  

Fulfilment of 
functions   100%

Short-term variable
compensation
(bonus)

Performance 
bonus in
cash and 
shares  

Performance-
related
pay (short-
term)  

Achievement 
of 
performance
targets over 
a
1-year period  

Return on 
Equity

Individual 
targets  

max. 25%

max. 25%

Shares

Shares with 
three-year
vesting 
period  

Long-term 
share-based
compensation 
aligned with 
shareholder
interest  

Share price 
performance
over a 
multiyear
period  

Increase
in the
share price   max. 25%

Pensions,
other benefits

Pensions and
insurance, 
other
benefits  

Coverage 
against risks,
acquisition 
and retention
of staff  

Standard 
market price,
standard 
market 
practise
and position        
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The cumulative short-term variable compensation component is calculated as a nominal amount in Swiss francs. The 
payment is generally made in cash, but may also consist of three-quarters in cash and one quarter in Züblin shares, 
whereby the price of the allocation is calculated on the basis of the closing shareprice on the last trading day of the 
previous financial year.

In the current financial year, no operating performance bonus or return on equity bonus was paid in connection with 
the COVID 19 pandemic.

Shares: Members of the Executive Management may receive a share-based compensation component. The 
purpose of the share-based compensation is to align the interests of the Executive Management with the interests of 
shareholders. As with the share-based compensation of board members, this component may – subject to approval 
of the NCC – amount to max. 25% of the annual base salary of the member of the Executive Management. 

Pensions and other benefits: The other main benefits received by management employees are pension plans and 
insurance policies which provide an appropriate pension contribution and appropriate coverage against the risks of 
death or disability. For members of the Executive Management with a Swiss employment contracts the plan benefits 
exceed those provided by the Swiss Federal Law on Old-Age, Survivorsʼ and Disability Pension Plans (BVG) and are 
in line with standard market practice.

Members of the Executive Management do not receive any special additional benefits. They are entitled to a lump-
sum amount for business expenses in accordance with the expenses regulations approved by the relevant cantonal 
tax authorities.

Compensation in the year under review: The compensation for Executive Management is set out in the 
compensation report. 

Notice periods and severance payments for the Executive Management:

Compensation in the reporting year: The compensation of the members of the Executive Management for the 
reporting year is set out in the Compensation Report.

Roland Friederich (CEO/CFO): the notice period is six months. The employment contract does not provide for any 
severance payment.

•
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COMPENSATION REPORT

The Compensation Report has been drawn up on the basis of articles 14 to 16 of the Ordinance against excessive 
pay in listed companies (Verordnung gegen übermässige Vergütungen bei börsenkotierten Aktiengesellschaften 
[VegüV]). It replaces the disclosures pursuant to Art. 663b of the Swiss Code of Obligations previously provided in the 
parent company financial statements of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG.

Compensation of the Board of Directors

Compensation of the Executive Management

in CHF Basic
compensation

Total

     

Financial year 2019/20   

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Chairman 130 000 130 000

Vladislav Osipov, Member 70 000 70 000

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member 70 000 70 000

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik 25 000 25 000

Total Board of Directors 295 000 295 000

Compensation approved by the Annual General Meeting   550 000

     

Financial year 2018/19    

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, Chairman 100 000 100 000

Vladislav Osipov, Member 70 000 70 000

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member 70 000 70 000

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Member 70 000 70 000

Total Board of Directors 310 000 310 000

Compensation approved by the Annual General Meeting   550 000

As of 18.06.2019 elected chairman of the board, prior member
until 18.06.2019

1

2

2

1
2

in CHF   Basic
compensation

Bonus
in cash

  Employers contributions Total

Financial year 2019/20           

Roland Friederich, CEO (since 15.7.2019) / CFO   276 988 0  52 004 328 992

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, CEO (until 14.7.2019)   312 498 0  53 676 366 174

Total Group Management   589 486 0  105 680 695 166

Compensation approved by the Annual General Meeting          1 500 000

             

Financial year 2018/19           

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, CEO   507 813 250 000  109 390 867 203

Roland Friederich, CFO   220 000 110 000  51 029 381 029

Total Group Management   727 813 360 000  160 419 1 248 232

Compensation approved by the Annual General Meeting          1 800 000

thereof contribution to pension schemes (AHV, pension fund) CHF 82'586 (prior year: CHF 144'016)

1

1
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Additional information on the Compensation Report

The expenses of CHF 16ʼ184 for social security contributions are not reported for the individual Board members, as 
these contribtions do not give rise to additional pension entitlements. No non-executive member of the Board of 
Directors is a member of the companyʼs pension fund.

All members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management receive lump-sum expenses at the level 
permitted by the tax authorities. Expenses incurred in connection with board meetings and which are not covered by 
the lump-sum expenses are also reimbursed.

The company has no outstanding loans to current or former members of the board or management.

All expenses are recognized on the basis of the accrual principle and reconcile with the information in both the parent 
company and consolidated financial statements of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

in CHF thousands Notes   1.4.2019
to 31.3.2020

1.4.2018
to 31.3.2019

Rental income 4.1   9 421 8 053

Total operating income     9 421 8 053

Real estate expenses 4.2   –530 –470

Maintenance and repairs     –381 –188

Net operating income     8 510 7 395

         

Personnel expenses 4.3   –1 875 –3 257

Administrative expenses 4.4   –1 105 –1 446

Other income 4.4   511 312

Change in market value 5.1   219 596

         

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)     6 260 3 600

Financial expenses 4.5   –851 –841

Financial income 4.5   230 485

Earnings before taxes (EBT)     5 639 3 244

Income taxes 4.6   –1 011 2 970

Earnings     4 628 6 214

         

Earnings per share 4.7   1.40 1.87

Diluted earnings per share 4.7   1.40 1.87

Information contained in the notes to the annual consolidated financial statements is an integral part of the consolidated annual financial statements.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

in CHF thousands Notes   1.4.2019
to 31.3.2020

1.4.2018
to 31.3.2019

         

Earnings     4 628 6 214

Change in pension obligation 5.9   –27 –77

Income taxes from change in pension obligation 4.6   5 16

Items subsequently not reclassified to income statement     –22 –61

Other comprehensive income     –22 –61

         

Net comprehensive income     4 606 6 153

Information contained in the notes to the annual consolidated financial statements is an integral part of the consolidated annual financial statements.  
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Assets

Equity and liabilities

in CHF thousands Notes   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

         

Non-current assets        

Investment properties 5.1   217 910 200 880

Furnishing 5.2   263 24

Deferred tax assets 5.3   0 50

Total non-current assets     218 173 200 954

         

Current assets        

Trade accounts receivable 5.4   277 49

Receivable from income taxes     0 5 040

Other current assets     1 412 1 652

Cash and cash equivalents 5.5   5 074 6 120

Total current assets     6 763 12 861

         

Total assets     224 936 213 815

in CHF thousands Notes   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

         

Equity        

Share capital 5.6   74 656 74 656

Capital reserves     163 922 167 240

Retained earnings     –105 546 –110 152

Treasury shares 5.6   –63 0

Total equity     132 969 131 744

         

Liabilities        

Non-current mortgages 5.9   72 836 64 769

Pension liabilities 5.10   252 238

Deferred tax liabilities 5.3   13 643 12 417

Total non-current liabilities     86 731 77 424

Trade accounts payable     404 441

Liabilities to participants 5.12   2 764 1 382

Other current liabilities     2 068 2 824

Total current liabilities     5 236 4 647

Total liabilities     91 967 82 071

         

Total equity and liabilities     224 936 213 815

Information contained in the notes to the annual consolidated financial statements is an integral part of the consolidated annual financial statements.  
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

in CHF thousands Notes   1.4.2019
to 31.3.2020

1.4.2018
to 31.3.2019

         

Cash flow from operating activities        

Earnings     4 628 6 214

Adjustments for:        

– Net financial expenses 4.5   621 356

– Change in market value of investment properties 5.1   –219 –596

– Income taxes 4.6   1 011 –2 970

– Depreciation 5.2   25 20

– Other non cash flow-related effects     –14 –43

Cash flow before change in net current assets     6 052 2 981

Change in net working capital     –1 480 238

Income taxes paid     –3 028 –718

Income taxes received     8 339 2 656

Interest received     330 382

Net cash flow from operating activities     10 213 5 539

         

Cash flow from investing activities        

Investments in investment properties 5.1   –16 811 –164

Release of Escrow Account Sale Germany 4.4   601 0

Investments in furnishing 5.2   –266 0

Net cash flow from investing activities     –16 476 –164

         

Cash flow from financing activities        

Purchase of own shares 5.6   –296 0

Sale of own shares 5.6   233 0

Distribution from capital reserves 5.6   –1 936 –1 936

Increase of mortgages 5.9   8 000 0

Decrease of mortgages 5.9   0 –1 000

Interest paid     –676 –699

Net cash flow used in financing activities     5 325 –3 635

         

Currency translation adjustments for cash and cash equivalents     –108 –85

Change in cash and cash equivalents     –1 046 1 655

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period     6 120 4 465

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 5.5   5 074 6 120

Information contained in the notes to the annual consolidated financial statements is an integral part of the consolidated annual financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN 
SHAREHOLDERSʼ EQUITY

in CHF thousands Share 
capital

Capital 
reserves

Treasury 
shares

Retained 
earnings

Total equity

           

Balance as of 31.3.2018 74 656 170 558 0 –116 305 128 909

Earnings       6 214 6 214

Other comprehensive income       –61 –61

Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 6 153 6 153

Distribution from capital reserves   –3 318     –3 318

Balance as of 31.3.2019 74 656 167 240 0 –110 152 131 744

           

Earnings       4 628 4 628

Other comprehensive income       –22 –22

Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 4 606 4 606

Purchase / Sale of treasury shares     –63   –63

Distribution from capital reserves   –3 318     –3 318

Balance as of 31.3.2020 74 656 163 922 –63 –105 546 132 969

Information contained in the notes to the annual consolidated financial statements is an integral part of the consolidated annual financial statements.  

P/49    Annual Report 2019/20 Züblin Immobilien Holding AG

(courtesy translation – legally binding is the German version of the Annual Report)



  FINANCIAL REPORT  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

1.1 General Information on the Company 

Züblin Immobilien Holding AG and its subsidiaries (together the Züblin Group) are focused on the management of the 
Groupʼs real estate portfolio. As of 31 March 2020 Züblin Group operates in Switzerland and has employed five 
persons (31 March 2019: eight persons).

Züblin Immobilien Holding AG is a Swiss stock corporation domiciled at Hardturmstrasse 76, Zurich, Switzerland, 
and is the parent company of the Züblin Group. The companyʼs shares are traded on the main segment of SIX Swiss 
Exchange.

1.2 List of Group companies

Name City, Address Currency Capital Function Participation
per 31.3.2020

Participation
per 31.3.2019

            

Switzerland           

Züblin Immobilien Holding AG Zurich, Hardturmstrasse 76 CHF 74 655 608 H    

Züblin Immobilien AG Zurich, Hardturmstrasse 76 CHF 270 000 I 100% 100%

Weilimmo AG Zurich, Hardturmstrasse 76 CHF 1 000 000 IA 100% 100%

             

Germany            

ZUB Immobilien GmbH Oberursel, Frankfurter Landstrasse 2-4 EUR 50 000 IA 100% 100%

             

France            

Officiis Properties SA Paris, 52 B rue de la Bienfaisance EUR 17 227 970 S 0% 29%

             

Netherlands            

Züblin Real Estate Holding NV Utrecht, Maliebaan 89 EUR 10 213 817 IA 100% 100%

             

Belgium            

Züblin Immobilière Belgium SA Brussels, 4 rue de la presse EUR 200 753 IA 100% 100%

H = Holding company  
I = Real estate company (owner of various properties)  
S = Sold not consolidated company  
IA = Inactive  

Former Züblin Immobilière France SA; in FY 19/20 all shares were sold by exercising the call option granted in 2015
The functional currency is Swiss francs

2

1

2

2

1
2
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 
OTHER SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Significant accounting policies 

2.1.1 Principles

The consolidated financial statements of the Züblin Group have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The consolidated financial statements comply with Swiss statutory regulations 
as well as with the SIX Swiss Exchange Directive on Financial Reporting. The consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared on the basis of historical costs, except for investment properties and derivative financial instruments, 
which are measured at fair value. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in Swiss francs (CHF), the Züblin Groupʼs reporting 
currency. All amounts are given in thousands of Swiss francs unless otherwise stated. The individual financial 
statements of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements apply the same accounting and 
valuation principles and have the same balance sheet date.

The consolidated financial statements of the Züblin Group for the financial year ending 31 March 2020 were 
approved by the Board of Directors on 18 May 2020. The Annual General Meeting, which in accordance with the 
Swiss Code of Obligations is responsible for approving the consolidated financial statements, will be held on 17 June 
2020.

2.2 Amendments to accounting principles

2.2.1 Amendments implemented in the current financial year

With the exception of standards and interpretations newly applied in the financial year, the consolidated financial 
statements are based on the same accounting and valuation principles used in the previous year. The following 
Standards and Interpretations have been introduced since 1 April 2019:

The above amendments, interpretations and improvements had no material impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.

IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement and reporting of leases, which were previously 
defined in IAS 17. The amendments relate in particular to operating leases at the lessee, which must now be 
recognized in the balance sheet. Züblin has no significant operating leases as a lessee. For Züblin as lessor, the new 
standard does not result in any material adjustments.

2.2.2 Future amendments to accounting policies

The following new or revised standards and interpretations are to be applied at the earliest for financial years 
beginning on 1 April 2020:

     

– IFRS 16: Leases   from 1.1.2019

– IFRIC Interpretation 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments   from 1.1.2019

     

– IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts   from 1.1.2021
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None of the new or revised standards and interpretations were adopted early in the preparation of the financial 
statements of the Züblin Group. 

The new IFRS 17 standard, which aims to ensure consistent, principles-based accounting for insurance contracts, 
requires insurance liabilities to be measured at a current settlement value. This leads to a more uniform measurement 
and presentation of all insurance contracts. IFRS 17 is mandatory for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 
2021, and replaces IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts”.

Although a systematic analysis has not been performed, it is not anticipated that the new or amended standards and 
interpretations above will have any material impact on the financial reporting of the Züblin Group.

2.3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates and judgment by the Companyʼs 
management. These estimates and judgments affect the way in which assets, liabilities, income and expenses are 
reported and their valuation, as well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities and other disclosures in the financial 
statements. The actual outcome may differ from assumptions and estimates that have been used. In the event that 
they subsequently differ from the actual outturn, the initial estimates and assumptions are revised to reflect the 
changed circumstances during the financial year in which these changes occur. The primary discretionary estimates 
and judgements impacting the financial statements of the Company relate to the following instances:

2.3.1 Valuation and reporting of investment properties

Fair value is determined twice a year by independent external valuers. The valuations are performed in accordance 
with national and international standards and guidelines as set out in the International Valuation Standards (IVSC) and 
the standards of the Royal Chartered Surveyors (Red Book). “Fair value” is defined as the price that would be 
received to sell or purchase an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an armʼs length transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date.

The discounted cash flow (DCF) method is used to determine fair value on the valuation date. Under this method the 
fair value of a property is determined by the sum of projected future net earnings discounted to the valuation date 
plus the discounted exit value. A detailed cash flow forecast is produced for the first ten years, with a residual value 
(exit value) being determined on basis of a perpetual annuity of the exit cash flow for the rest of the term. The 
projected gross rental income is determined on the basis of existing tenancies and assumptions on reletting at 
current market rents, with allowance made for the relevant marketing periods and the probability of current leases 
being renewed. The net rental income is defined as the gross rental income less property-specific costs that cannot 
be passed on to tenants plus maintenance and any renovation required for new rentals. The discount calculation is 
carried out separately for each property, taking account of its property-specific risks and opportunities, in line with 
market conditions and on a risk-adjusted basis.

The independent valuer inspects the properties when they are bought, or after a minimum of three years or if 
substantial renovations are carried out. In order to determine the cash flows Züblin supplies the valuer with rent rolls, 
property cost statements and investment budgets. The valuation assumptions and results are plausibility checked by 
Group Management and discussed with the expert.

The following tables show a sensitivity analysis of the two parameters discount rate and market rent, which have a 
significant influence on the valuation of the investment properties. These effects are shown for the portfolio overall, 
but are also broken down by properties with and without tenants whose businesses are strongly affected by 
COVID-19. The properties with tenants in sectors strongly affected by COVID-19 are: Bern, Baden and Zurich-
Hofwiesenstrasse.

The annualised rental income of tenants in high-risk sectors amounted to CHF 746,697 or 7.9% of total annual rental 
income at 31 March 2020.

Sectors that are strongly affected are defined as those that are directly affected by the official requirements to close 
down their rented premises. In the case of Züblin this corresponds to: gastronomy, fitness and non-food retail.
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The above table shows the impact on the valuation of current investment properties in the event of changes in 
market rents. Züblin has explained the effects up to a maximum change of ±8% percent.

The following table shows the valuation effects of changes in the discount rates. The effects are shown in ±10 basis 
points.

The valuation method and the valuation assumptions used are shown in the .

2.3.2 Income taxes

Estimates are necessary for the determination of current as well as deferred taxes. These assumptions relate to the 
following:

Current taxes
The Züblin Group is subject to taxation in Switzerland as well as in the countries were its subsidiaries operate. The 
determination of the provision for current taxes in these jurisdictions requires significant judgment by Group 
Management, as the final tax position of many transactions and calculations is unclear.

Deferred taxes
Capital gains tax is included in the calculation of deferred taxes on investment properties in Switzerland. These taxes 
are dependent upon the holding period of the assets, which is determined as follows: for properties that are held for 
sale, the actual holding period plus one year has been used. For all other properties, either a period of fifteen years, 
or the actual holding period if greater than fifteen years, has been assumed. Assumptions are also necessary for 
deferred tax assets from tax loss carry-forwards. These losses are only capitalized when the use of the losses in the 
future is probable. The determination as to whether such losses can be offset in the future is based on estimates of 
the future cash flows deriving from the property, together with estimates by Group Management on the likelihood of 
utilization of these loss carry-forwards in future periods. Based upon these factors, a probability is assigned to each 
potential asset and subsequently valued and recorded.

    Portfolio overall  

Properties without 
tenants in high-risk 

sectors  
Properties with tenants 

in high-risk sectors

Change 
in market rents by  

Market value 
%  

Market value 
%  

Market value 
%

                   

8.0%   234 720 7.7%   171 790 7.5%   62 930 8.3%

6.0%   230 518 5.8%   168 795 5.6%   61 723 6.2%

4.0%   226 315 3.9%   165 800 3.7%   60 515 4.2%

2.0%   222 113 1.9%   162 805 1.9%   59 308 2.1%

0.0%   217 910 0.0%   159 810 0.0%   58 100 0.0%

–2.0%   213 708 –1.9%   156 813 –1.9%   56 895 –2.1%

–4.0%   209 505 –3.9%   153 815 –3.8%   55 690 –4.1%

–6.0%   205 303 –5.8%   150 818 –5.6%   54 485 –6.2%

–8.0%   201 100 –7.7%   147 820 –7.5%   53 280 –8.3%

Market value in CHF thousand  
Source: JLL  

1 1 1

    Portfolio overall  

Properties without 
tenants in high-risk 

sectors  
Properties with tenants 

in high-risk sectors

Change 
in discount rate by  

Market value 
%  

Market value 
%  

Market value 
%

                   

40bps   194 130 –10.9%   141 340 –11.6%   52 790 –9.1%

30bps   199 540 –8.4%   145 520 –8.9%   54 020 –7.0%

20bps   205 290 –5.8%   149 970 –6.2%   55 320 –4.8%

10bps   211 400 –3.0%   154 720 –3.2%   56 680 –2.4%

0bps   217 910 0.0%   159 810 0.0%   58 100 0.0%

-10bps   224 860 3.2%   165 260 3.4%   59 600 2.6%

-20bps   232 290 6.6%   171 110 7.1%   61 180 5.3%

-30bps   240 270 10.3%   177 420 11.0%   62 850 8.2%

-40bps   248 840 14.2%   184 230 15.3%   64 610 11.2%

Market value in CHF thousand  
Source: JLL  

1 1 1

property valuation report
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2.4 Consolidation principles

2.4.1 Method of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG and its 
subsidiaries for the financial year ending on 31 March. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for 
the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, i. e. from the date on which the Group obtains control of 
the subsidiary.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquired business is equal to 
the total consideration transferred measured at fair value at the date of acquisition plus non-controlling equity 
interests. The acquirer measures the non-controlling equity interests either at fair value or as the proportionate share 
of the identifiable net assets of the acquired company. The costs incurred in the course of the business combination 
are recognized as an expense. 

2.4.2 Scope of consolidation

In the fourth quarter of 2018/19, Züblin Immobilien Management AG merged with Züblin Immobilien AG with 
retroactive effect as of 30 September 2018. Since this absorption merger is a facilitated merger between sister 
companies, neither a capital increase nor an share allocation took place. 

The composition of the group of consolidated entities is set out in  List of group companies. 

2.4.3 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions
All transactions are converted using the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. Monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognized at the rate prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary 
items valued at historical cost are converted using the rate prevailing on the transaction date, and non-monetary 
items measured at fair value are converted using the rate applicable as of the date of the calculation of fair value. 
Differences arising from conversion to closing rates are recognized in the income statement.

Foreign subsidiaries
The conversion of the financial statements of consolidated Züblin Group companies that are prepared in foreign 
currencies is performed on the basis of the functional currency concept. As of the balance sheet date, the financial 
statements of the consolidated Züblin Group companies are translated from the functional currency into the reporting 
currency. The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are converted as follows: the balance sheet is converted at 
the year-end rates, while income and expenses are converted at the average exchange rates for the reporting year. 
The effects of these conversions are recorded directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the 
position “Currency translation adjustment”. Conversion differences relating to Züblin Group internal loans, where 
repayment is not anticipated in the foreseeable future, or is unlikely, and which are consequently qualified as net 
investments in a foreign company, are also recognized directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income in the position “Currency translation adjustments”.

As at 31 March 2020, all foreign subsidiaries had the functional currency of Swiss francs as they had ceased their 
operating activities.

note 1.2

in CHF   Balance sheet rate Balance sheet rate   Average rate Average rate

    31.3.2020 31.3.2019   1.4.2019
to 31.3.2020

1.4.2018
to 31.3.2019

             

1 EUR   1.0588 1.1181   1.0961 1.1468
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2.5 Accounting and valuation principles

2.5.1 Income statement

Rental income
Income reported from real estate operations is comprised exclusively of rental income after consideration of 
vacancies. Rental income is recorded on an accrual basis as of the date at which the rent is due. Income and 
expenses related service charges for instance payments for heating, lighting and other services are not included.

Real estate expense
Real estate expenses include costs directly associated with the individual properties, and include costs for 
administration, bad debts, insurance, facility management, legal costs, taxes and other fees.

Maintenance and repairs
Maintenance and repairs includes the cost of maintenance and repairs of investment properties incurred during the 
financial year and is charged to the income statement. Expenditures that result in an increase in value are capitalized 
and reflected in the valuations.

Personnel expenses
Personnel expenses includes salaries and social epenses as well as the compensation of the Board of Directors.

Administrative expense
All expenses that cannot be allocated directly to individual investment properties are recorded as administrative 
expenses. Additionally, administrative costs include fees for legal, tax and other advisory services, appraisal and audit 
services, other taxes (e. g. capital taxes) as well as other expenses of an overhead nature. 

Result from the sale of investment properties
The result from the sale of investment properties represents the difference between net sales proceeds and the latest 
reported market value of the individual property, including investments up to the date of the sale. The result is 
realized at the time of the transfer of risks and rewards, which is usually the date on which the contract is signed in 
the presence of the notary or the date of registration in the land register.

Change in market value of investment properties
Changes in the market value of investment properties are recorded in the income statement in accordance with IAS 
40.

Financial expense
Financial expenses primarily include interest expense on debt financing, including the interest impact from derivative 
financial instruments. All financial expenses are accrued and recognized in the income statement on the basis of the 
effective interest method.

Income taxes
Income taxes are comprised of current and deferred taxes. Income taxes are recorded directly in the income 
statement unless they are incurred as part of a transaction related to the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income. In such cases, the income taxes are recorded directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income in a manner consistent with the underlying transaction. Current taxes are comprised of taxes due on the 
taxable earnings of the Company calculated using the tax rate in effect as of the balance sheet date, together with 
capital gains tax on the sales of assets and adjustments to tax liabilities or receivables from previous periods. 

2.5.2 Balance sheet

Fair value hierarchy
The valuation of the investment properties and the financial instruments is based upon the the three-level fair value 
hierarchy, which is as follows:

Level 1 – Valuation based upon market prices for specific financial instruments.•
Level 2 – Valuation based upon market prices for similar instruments or using valuation models which are based 
upon input parameters observable on the market.

•
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Investment properties
In accordance with revised IAS 40/IFRS 13 investment properties are reported at market value.

Fair value is determined twice a year by independent external valuers. The valuations are performed in accordance 
with national and international standards and guidelines as set out in the International Valuation Standards (IVSC) and 
the standards of the Royal Chartered Surveyors (Red Book). The appraisals are made using the discounted cash flow 
method according to the “highest and best use” concept of IFRS 13. See also “Critical accounting estimates and 
judgements” in 

Purchases are recorded at cost. Expenses incurred after the purchase of the property are capitalized if it is likely that 
future economic benefits will accrue to the Company. All other maintenance and repair costs are recognized in the 
income statement. The change in market value is recognized through the income statement.

Investment properties are derecognized if they are sold or are no longer available for permanent use. Profits or losses 
on the disposal of investment properties are recognized in the income statement in the year of disposal.

There were no changes in valuation criteria or processes relating to IFRS 13 during the reporting period and there 
were no re-classifications within the fair value hierarchy. The investment properties recognized at fair value as at 31 
March 2019 continue to qualify as level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2020.

Investment properties held for sale
In accordance with IFRS 5, investment properties held for sale are reported in the balance sheet under current assets 
as a separate item “Investment properties held for sale”. A property is reclassified under this item if the following 
criteria are met:

After reclassification the properties continue to be valued in accordance with the valuation procedures of investment 
properties described above.

Furnishing
Furnishings, fixtures and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Office refurbishments and 
office furnishings are subject to straight-line depreciation over ten years and five years respectively, and IT equipment 
over three years. An evaluation is performed at every balance sheet date in order to determine whether there are 
indications that an impairment of the recorded value of furnishings and equipment might be necessary. If evidence 
exists that the book value is no longer realizable, the difference between the book value of the asset and the 
realizable value is written off.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred taxes are calculated using the Balance Sheet Liability Method and reflect temporary differences as of the 
balance sheet date between the book value of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the 
underlying tax accounts. The calculation of deferred tax assets and liabilities is based upon local tax rates and 
regulations substantially enacted as of the balance sheet date. For Swiss investment properties, a holding period of 
at least fifteen years is included in the calculation of deferred taxes. Deferred tax assets from tax loss carry-forwards 
are only recorded to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable income in the future to offset the 
tax loss carry-forwards and related tax assets. There are no deferred tax liabilities for temporary differences related to 
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries, since the Züblin Group can manage the reversal of the temporary difference, 
and it is likely that these differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
netted when there is legal justification for such treatment and when the deferred taxes relate to companies of the 
same fiscal unity and to the same tax authority.

Level 3 – Valuation based upon models with significant input parameters which have a material impact on fair 
value and are not observable on the market.

•

note 2.3.

The Board of Directors has formally resolved to dispose of the property•
There is an intention to sell the property in the short term and it is being actively marketed•
A judgment from Group Management that there is a high probability of the conclusion of the transaction within the 
next twelve months.

•
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Financial instruments
IFRS 9 contains four principal classification categories for financial assets:

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them.

Financial liabilities are recognised either at amortised cost or at fair value through profit or loss. The latter category 
includes financial liabilities held for trading, all derivatives with a negative fair value and liabilities for which the fair 
value option was exercised. The Züblin Group does not have any financial liabilities that are recognised at fair value 
as at the balance sheet date.

Recognition: Financial assets are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet when the Züblin Group has a 
contractual right to receive cash or other financial assets from another party. Financial liabilities are recorded when 
there is a contractual obligation for a cash payment or the delivery of a financial asset.

Derecognition: Financial assets are derecognized if the contractual rights to payments arising from the financial 
assets expire or if the financial assets are transferred along with all material risks and rewards. Furthermore, financial 
liabilities are derecognized when the liability is settled via payment or assignment of a financial asset.

Valuation: The first-time valuation of all financial instruments which are relevant for the Züblin Group is at fair value 
plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or 
loss. The subsequent valuation is based upon one of the categories used by the Company, as listed above.

The valuation of financial instruments is based upon the three-level fair value hierarchy, which is described above.

Financial assets at amortized cost
This category is the most relevant to the Group including loans and receivables as well as cash and cash equivalents. 
These are non-derivative financial instruments with fixed or determinable payments that are not traded in an active 
market. The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: The 
financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual 
cash flows. And the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest. Financial assests at amortized cost are subsequently measured cost using the 
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.The following assets are allocated to this measurement category:

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are comprised of receivables arising from the leasing activities of investment properties.

Other current receivables
Other receivables are those which do not arise from leasing activities of investment properties, particularly those from 
service charges passed on to tenants and cash and cash equivalents which cannot be drawn within three months.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash on hand, cash balances in postal and bank accounts, as well as 
short-term securities with a duration of less than three months.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Financial liabilities at amortized cost are non-derivative financial instruments with fixed or determinable payments. The 
subsequent valuation is at amortized cost under the effective interest method, whereby gains and losses on these 
positions are recorded in the income statement when they are derecognized or when interest is applied. The 
following liabilities in the consolidated financial statements are classified under this measurement category: 

Mortgages
Mortgages represent loans concluded in order to purchase real estate and are secured by liens on the real estate. 
The mortgage loan portfolio of the Züblin Immobilien Group may include both variable and fixed rates of interest. A 
differentiation is made between non-current and current mortgages based on future repayments. Repayments due 
within twelve months or amounts that are callable within the next twelve months are classified as current, and the 

measured at amortised cost•
fair value through other comprehensive income with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)•
fair value through other comprehensive income with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses (equity 
instruments)

•

fair value through profit or loss•
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rest as non-current. In the case of investment properties held for sale, the property is classified as a current asset. 
The corresponding mortgage is also reclassified to current liabilities as mortgages held for sale. Mortgages are 
concluded in the same currency as the underlying investments.

Accounts payable
Accounts payable consist of obligations that arise in connection with the investment properties, for example with 
leasing activities or renovation of a property, or in connection with overhead costs.

All other short- and long-term liabilities
These include all other liabilities of the Company, lease payments received in advance, tenant deposits, VAT liabilities 
as well as sundry accruals.

Provisions
Provisions are recorded if a legal or constructive obligation exists based on past events that will result in a probable 
outflow of funds, and where this outflow can be reliably estimated. Provisions are regularly reviewed and, if required, 
adjusted. They correspond to the current best estimate of liabilities.

Equity
Equity is comprised of share capital, capital reserves, retained earnings, treasury shares, reserve for cash flow 
hedges and foreign currency translation. Share capital includes the nominal value of the Companyʼs shares, which 
are issued and fully paid up. Par value reductions are ordinarily recorded in share capital. All earnings in the income 
statement are recorded in retained earnings. Other changes in equity are recorded as changes in capital reserves.

Treasury shares
Treasury shares are recorded at acquisition cost in the account “treasury shares” and deducted from equity. Upon 
sale, the same amount is credited to “treasury shares”, with any resultant gain or loss recorded in retained earnings.

Pension liabilities
The Züblin Group has a defined benefit plan in Switzerland. This pension scheme is generally funded through 
payments to insurance companies. Typically, defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an 
employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and 
compensation.

In the balance sheet, the long-term obligation in respect of the defined benefit pension plan is the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit 
obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the Projected Unit Credit method. The present value 
of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates 
of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have 
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.

Discontinued operations held for sale
The Group classifies disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a 
sale or distribution rather than through continuing use. Such disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured 
at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell or to distribute.

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the disposal 
group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Group Management must be committed to the sale 
expected within one year from the date of the classification.

Assets directly associated with the disposal group as well as liabilities are presented separately in the consolidated 
balance sheet. A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if it:

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single 
amount as result from discontinued operations in the consolidated income statement. The prior-year figures of the 
income statement items are adjusted accordingly.

represents a group component which is a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units,•
classifies as held for sale or has been disposed of in this manner or•
represents a major line of business or major geographical area.•
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2.5.3 Segment reporting (IFRS 8)

The internal reporting of the Züblin Group takes place in the form of total company figures. There is no distinction 
between the type of use of the buildings or their geographical location, nor is there a separate “Corporate” section. 
Accordingly, the Züblin Group is one operating segment.
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3. RISK MANAGMENT

3.1 Background

The Züblin Group attaches considerable importance to active risk management. The Company has an integrated risk 
management program which identifies and evaluates the material risks facing the Company and mitigates them 
through appropriate action. The Board of Directors is charged with overseeing the Companyʼs risk management 
activities and reviews the status of all risks that have been identified, including the action taken to mitigate them, with 
Group Management at least quarterly in order to reduce or eliminate these risks.

The Züblin Groupʼs primary business is the acquisition of real estate, mainly in the German-speaking markets, and 
the creation of value through the active asset management and sale of such properties. To finance new acquisitions 
of investment properties, new loans are taken out in the currency of the relevant country for up to 60% of the 
investment. The loans are floating-rate mortgages. The maturities and conditions attaching to these loans depend on 
the rental situation and the planned timeframe for the sale of the relevant properties.

3.2 Risk categories

Business risks are those risks which are inherent to the business strategy or may arise as a consequence of business 
activities. A clear description of these risks enables shareholders to assess the risk/return profile of the Company and 
its various investment products. The primary risks for the Züblin Group are comprised of the following: 

3.2.1 Real estate market risks

The management of real estate market risks is one of the core competencies of the Züblin Group. Essentially, these 
risks are comprised of two specific categories – the cyclical risks of the real estate market and rental market risk.

Cyclical real estate market risks are related to fluctuations inherent to the overall commercial real estate market and 
the related impact on the valuations of the Züblin Groupʼs investment portfolio. These risks can be partially mitigated 
by the Züblin Groupʼs strategy of geographical diversification.

Risks in connection with a change in discount rates as well as changes in market rents are risks that affect the entire 
property market. The sensitivity analyses in  show these impacts on the property valuations.

Rental market risks relate to the use of the property, the tenant mix, the creditworthiness of the tenants, the vacancy 
rate, the ability to increase rents, and the recoverability of running costs. Through its local asset management 
activities, the Company is constantly managing controllable risk factors, and is focused on proactively mitigating 
these risks where possible. In its regular meetings Group Management evaluates the overall concentration risk of its 
tenant structure, reviews any material changes to the credit standing of its significant tenants, as well as current or 
pending changes to the vacancy rates in all markets. Where necessary, the Board of Directors is alerted to material 
changes in the Züblin Groupʼs specific risk profile.

Real estate market risk•
Renovation risks•
Selling risks•
Financial risks•
Financial market risks•
Credit risks•
Liquidity risks•
Equity risks/capital management•
Regulatory and tax risks•
Internal organization and human risks•

section 2.3.1
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3.2.2 Renovation risks

Renovation projects entail a variety of risks. These include obtaining the relevant building permits, the budgeting of 
costs and adherence to the budget. Moreover, there is also uncertainty as to whether renovation work will be 
completed on time and with the required quality, and about the financing and subsequent letting of the property. In 
order to minimize these uncertainties the Züblin Group works with carefully selected partners and maintains strict 
cost control over the projects. In addition projects are only started once the financing has been secured. Züblin 
Groupʼs asset management actively begins to market the properties for letting at the latest when the construction 
work begins.

3.2.3 Selling risks

The sale of investment properties is subject to the market environment prevailing at the proposed date of the sale 
and the risks associated with this. In order to mitigate these risks Züblin obtains internal and external market analyses 
before taking any divestment decision. Moreover, unpredictable economic developments and local circumstances 
can cause delays in planned selling transactions.

3.2.4 Financial risks

Financial risk management within the Züblin Group is performed in accordance with the principles established by the 
Board of Directors. In particular, these principles govern the management of liquidity and the procurement of short-
term and long-term loans.

Financial market risks
The main financial risks encountered by the Züblin Group are market risks. These risks may include (i) currency risks 
arising from transactions and investments in countries outside Switzerland, (ii) interest rate-related fair value risks, 
where fluctuations in market interest rates can result in a change in the fair value of a financial instrument, and (iii) 
interest rate-related cash flow risks, where changes in market interest rates can result in a change in the future cash 
flows of a financial instrument.

Currency risks
Currently Züblin Groupʼs investment property portfolio lies to 100% in Switzerland. Therefore no currency risks arise 
from the portfolio. 

The Company would also face currency risks relating to the equity invested in the euro zone which is not hedged. 
Thus, Group Management, together with the Board of Directors, actively monitors the impact of changes in the 
Swiss Franc – Euro exchange rate on the Züblin Groupʼs total equity. As of 31 March 2020 no major equity is 
invested in the euro zone anymore. Therefore a change in the Swiss Franc – Euro exchange rate would have 
no impact on the Züblin Groupʼs total equity (previous year CHF 0 million). 

Interest rate risks
Interest rate risks arise from fluctuations in interest rates and movements in the yield curve. These risks are only 
incurred insofar as is necessary for optimal funding of the investment property portfolio. Interest rate risks are 
minimized by selecting suitable interest rate and maturity structures. The Züblin Group does not enter into speculative 
financial transactions of any kind.

Changes in interest rates have an effect on the Züblin Groupʼs balance sheet and earnings situation. In terms of 
interest expense, they primarily result in changes in the expense relating to mortgage loans. The Züblin Group 
currently has a net exposure of CHF 73.0 million (previous year CHF 65.0 million) to changes in interest movements 
through its unhedged financial liabilities position. A change in interest rates by 50 basis points would have no impact 
(previous year CHF 0 million) on the Companyʼs earnings due to the prevailing negative interest. 

Refinancing risks
Züblin intends to finance its investment properties up to 60% with mortgages. The Group depends on the ability and 
willingness of financial institutions to extend or offer loans to the Group on reasonable term, including term regarding 
collateral requirements. The general conditions for real estate financing are subject to constant change. Any negative 
development of general economic, regulatory and business conditions may adversely impact the groups ability to 
borrow from banks or may significantly increase the cost of such borrowings. In order to minimize refinancing risks 
Züblin seeks to continuously diversify its borrowing.
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Credit risks
The Company is primarily exposed to credit risk through its rental activities. This risk is monitored at a local level and 
is dispersed among a large number of tenants. If there is a higher risk with an individual tenant, local management 
remains in regular contact with the tenantʼs management and proactively monitors their financial position. As of the 
current year-end, there were no tenant accounts significantly in arrears. Within the Züblin Group, default risks mainly 
relate to rental receivables. In respect of rental receivables, the Züblin Group performs regular, extensive analyses of 
the collectability of outstanding receivables on a local basis, and where necessary, records a value adjustment in 
accordance with internal guidelines. Impaired receivables are written off if, in the opinion of local management, there 
is a high probability that part or all of the receivable will not be collected, or if debt collection action taken against the 
debtor is unsuccessful.

Credit risk arising from the investment of liquidity is limited by the fact that the Züblin Group works exclusively with 
banking partners with excellent credit standing. The Züblin Group itself receives no collateral for its credit risk, 
therefore the theoretical risk of default equals the positive book values of the financial instruments.

No significant default risk existed at the current or previous financial year-end so that, in the opinion of Executive 
Management, the risk that partners fail to meet their contractual obligations is very low, although it cannot be entirely 
ruled out. With the ongoing outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, uncertain trading and credit market conditions may 
result in rapid changes in tenant credit ratings and reduced lease persistence.

In the case of financial assets/liquidity that are neither overdue nor impaired there were, as in the previous year, no 
indications that the debtors will fail to meet their payment obligations.

Liquidity risks
The Züblin Group aims to ensure a balance between maintaining ongoing coverage of its cash requirements and 
ensuring sufficient financial flexibility through the use of overdraft facilities and short-term loans. Cash balances are 
monitored on a local as well as a Group basis, and are reviewed at the Group level on a weekly basis. A detailed 
cash management plan which takes into account future investments, debt service and other operational cash needs, 
as well as anticipated cash receipts, is prepared monthly and action is taken where necessary to ensure that cash 
reserves are sufficient to cover operational needs. Furthermore, this monthly liquidity analysis is reviewed by the 
Board of Directors on a quarterly basis. As at 31 March 2020 the Züblin Group had access to unused credit facilities 
of CHF 45 million (previous year: CHF 53 million). The Group also held cash and cash equivalents of CHF 5.1million 
(previous year CHF 6.1 million) at 31 March 2020. 

Equity risks/capital management
The Züblin Groupʼs primary aim when managing its capital is to secure a level of equity appropriate for an 
internationally active real estate management company. The primary tool the Züblin Group uses to monitor its equity 
is its consolidated equity to total assets ratio. The Züblin Group has set its target at a minimum equity to total assets 
ratio of 40%. The Züblin Group believes that this level of equity ensures a high credit rating while allowing sufficient 
leverage to grow the business and maximize shareholder value. In order to adjust the equity ratio and to maintain the 
requisite capital structure, the following measures can be utilized by the Züblin Group: (i) adjustment of dividends or 
capital repayments or (ii) the issuance of new shares.

3.2.5 Regulatory and tax risks

Changes in legislation, regulations, standards, interpretations and the like can have a financial impact on Züblinʼs 
business environment. These risks are closely monitored and managed.

3.2.6 Internal organization and human resources

The risks associated with the outsourcing of certain tasks and with the filling of roles internally are also monitored on 
an ongoing basis.
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4. DETAILED INFORMATION ON STATEMENT 
OF PROFIT AND LOSS AND OCI ITEMS

4.1 Rental income

Potential rental income increased by TCHF 1ʼ145 compared to the previous year, mainly due to the acquisition of the 
property in Zurich-Oerlikon. New rentals in Berne and Egg led to a reduction in vacancies of TCHF 243, while the 
increase in vacancies in Baden had a counteracting effect. Overall, rental income increased by TCHF 1ʼ368 
compared with the previous year.

The following table shows the 5 main tenants who generated 57.0% of the rental income in the current financial year.

The following table contains a maturity analysis of lease payments categorised by contract term, showing the 
undiscounted lease payments to be received after the reporting date:

in CHF thousands   1.4.2019
to 31.3.2020

1.4.2018
to 31.3.2019

       

Potential rental income   10 219 9 074

Vacancy   –798 –1 010

Net rent reductions   0 –11

Rental income   9 421 8 053

Tenant Sector %

     

Baker & McKenzie, Zurich Law firm 31.2

Roland Berger, Zurich Consulting 14.9

BR Bauhandel AG, Bern Distribution 4.1

Testo Industrial Services AG, Egg Quality control 4.0

Notariat Oerlikon, Zurich Notary 2.8

Total   57.0

in CHF thousands   31.03.2020 31.03.2019

       

Less than one year   1 748 389

One to two years   699 2 243

Two to three years   634 392

Three to four years   632 307

Four to five years   786 602

More than five years   4 945 4 256

Total undiscounted lease payments   9 444 8 189
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4.2 Real estate expenses

Total real estate expenses increased by CHFk 60 compared to the previous year. In addition to higher marketing 
costs, the increase is due to the acquisition of the property in Zurich Oerlikon.

4.3 Personnel expenses

The decrease in personnel expenses by CHFk 1ʼ382 results from lower bonus payments and a reduction in the 
number of employees from eight to five during the year.

Other personnel expenses include lump-sum expense allowance and travel cost for employees and member of the 
Board of Directors, fees for directorsʼ and officersʼ insurance, costs for recruting of new employees and expenses for 
the further training of existing staff.

in CHF thousands   1.4.2019
to 31.3.2020

1.4.2018
to 31.3.2019

       

External property management fees   –243 –229

Non recoverable service charges   –78 –47

Insurance   –79 –85

Marketing costs   –46 –31

Property taxes   –24 –27

Legal fees   0 –2

Other property-related expenses   –60 –49

Total real estate expenses   –530 –470

in CHF thousands   1.4.2019
to 31.3.2020

1.4.2018
to 31.3.2019

       

Wages and salaries   –1 554 –2 740

Social security contributions   –119 –155

Pension plan expenses   –107 –136

Other personnel expenses   –95 –226

Total personnel expenses   –1 875 –3 257
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4.4 Administrative expense 

Administrative expenses fell by CHFk 341 or 24%. On the one hand, this is a result of the further optimization of the 
companyʼs cost structure, on the other hand, one-off expenses were incurred in the previous year – particularly in the 
area of consulting costs – in connection with the final assessment of property gains taxes and legal advice in 
connection with the simplification of the corporate structure.

Other income

Other income of TCHF 511 mainly relates to surpluses from the settlement of an escrow account set up in 
connection with the sale of the German portfolio in 2017. Also in the previous year, other income mainly related to 
settled claims resulting from the sale of the German portfolio.

4.5 Financial expense and income 

Financial expenses mainly relate to interest on the mortgage loan. In connection with the acquisition of the Zurich 
Oerlikon property, limits provided under the framework financing were used.

As in the previous year, the interest income of CHFk 230 relates exclusively to an income tax credit. More detailed 
information can be found in note 4.6.

in CHF thousands   1.4.2019
to 31.3.2020

1.4.2018
to 31.3.2019

       

Legal and tax advisory   –239 –318

Other advisory and investor relations   –220 –300

Rent expenses   –191 –193

Bookkeeping and IT   –104 –159

Other taxes   –89 –117

Audit   –67 –70

Valuation   –42 –33

Project related advisory expenses   –23 –27

Depreciation   –25 –20

Travel expenses   –9 –119

Notarial charges   –1 –4

Other administrative expenses   –95 –86

Total administrative expenses   –1 105 –1 446

in CHF thousands   1.4.2019
to 31.3.2020

1.4.2018
to 31.3.2019

       

Financial expenses      

Mortgage interest expenses   –743 –714

Other interest expenses   –2 –3

Currency translation adjustments   –106 –124

Total financial expenses   –851 –841

       

Financial income      

Interest income   230 485

Total financial income   230 485

Net financial expenses   –621 –356

The respective liabilities belong to the category "Financial liabilities at amortized cost".
The assets to which this income relates belong to the category "Financial Assets at amortized cost".

1

1

2

1
2
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4.6 Income taxes

Income tax

The current tax income in the amount of CHF 0.3 million results mainly from the release of tax provisions due to the 
definitive assessments of Züblin Immobilien AG for property gains taxes (for the changes of ownerships in 2009 and 
2013) as well as the income taxes for the financial years 2009/2010 to 2012/2013 (cantonal and municipal taxes, 
direct federal taxes). In the previous year, provisions in the amount of CHF 5.3 million were already released in this 
connection. In the tax years concerned, the inter- and intra-cantonal loss offset for real estate gains tax and ordinary 
income tax in particular was unclear. The tax provisions as at 31 March 2018 reflected the maximum and most 
probable risk at that time. As part of the assessment procedure, the issue of loss offsetting was clarified with the tax 
authorities and a solution was found, which meant that the tax provisions as at 31 March 2019 could be adjusted 
accordingly. In the current financial year, all tax years were finally settled.

The expenses for deferred income taxes amount to CHF 1.3 million in the current financial year (previous year: CHF 
2.3 million). In the previous year, deferred taxes included a special effect in the amount of CHF 1.3 million, which was 
due to the additional release of loss carryforwards in connection with the above-mentioned assessments.

In total, income tax expenses in the 2019/20 financial year amounted to CHF 1.0 million. This corresponds to a 
decrease of CHF 4.0 million compared with income of CHF 3.0 million in the previous year. As already explained, this 
is entirely attributable to special items in connection with the clarification of the issue of loss offsetting.

The following table provides a reconciliation of income taxes at the reference tax rate to the income tax reported in 
the income statement:

in CHF thousands   1.4.2019
to 31.3.2020

1.4.2018
to 31.3.2019

       

Income taxes in profit and loss      

Current taxes from previous year   271 5 276

Total current taxes   271 5 276

       

Changes in tax loss carry forwards   –365 –1 600

Changes in valuation   –642 –697

Changes in other positions   –275 –9

Total deferred taxes   –1 282 –2 306

Total income taxes in profit and loss   –1 011 2 970

       

Income taxes in comprehensive income statement (OCI)      

Current taxes in OCI   0 0

Deferred taxes in OCI   5 16

Total income taxes in comprehensive income statement (OCI)   5 16
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Income tax reconciliation

4.7 Earnings per share

Züblin Immobilien Holding AG has no equity instruments which would lead to a dilution.

in CHF thousands   1.4.2019
to 31.3.2020

1.4.2018
to 31.3.2019

       

Financial year      

Profit before tax   5 639 3 244

Reference rate   19.57% 18.28%

Income taxes at reference rate   –1 103 –593

Income taxes recogized in Profit & Loss   –1 011 2 970

Difference   92 3 563

Adjustments:      

– Changes in tax rates on deferred tax positions   217 90

– Items taxed at other than reference rate   –65 –317

– Changes in loss carry forwards not recognized   –99 –484

– Income taxes from previous periods   39 4 274

The reference tax rate for the Group is calculated at 19.57% (previous year 18.28%). The calculation was made using absolute numbers.

1

1

in CHF thousands   1.4.2019
to 31.3.2020

1.4.2018
to 31.3.2019

       

Average number of shares entitled to dividends   3 316 303 3 318 027

       

Earnings   4 628 6 214

       

Earnings per share in CHF   1.40 1.87
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5. DETAILED INFORMATION ON STATEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL POSITION ITEMS

5.1 Investment properties 

In the 2019/20 financial year, the value of the investment properties increased by CHF 17.0 million. This was mainly 
due to the acquisition of the property in Zurich-Oerlikon (CHF 15.6 million) and value-enhancing investments of CHF 
1.2 million.

Against the background of the events in connection with the Corona crisis, the changes in market value of the 
portfolio as at 31 March 2020 give a different picture. Züblin traditionally invests in office properties and is currently 
invested exclusively in Switzerland. An analysis of the potential impact of the health crisis on the direct sector 
affiliation of our tenants shows that only a small percentage of 8% of the tenants are severely affected by officially 
ordered closures. The vast majority of tenants are active in low-risk sectors. The properties in Zurich – 
Holbeinstrasse, Zurich – Hofwiesenstrasse and Zurich – Hardtumstrasse recorded a positive change in market value 
totalling CHF 2.1 million in the financial year. The properties at Bern – Morgenstrasse, Baden – Rütistrasse and in 
Egg have recorded a total write-down of CHF 1.9 million.

The weighted average lease term (WALT) as of 31 March 2020 is 3.8 years (previous year 4.3 years).

The principles and assumptions applied in the valuation of the investment properties are set out in the detailed 
.

A complete list of all investment properties along with all information in accordance with the Directive on Financial 
Reporting of the SIX Swiss Exchange can be found in the portfolio section of this annual report. This additional 
information is an integral part of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

in CHF thousands   2019/20 2018/19

       

Balance as of beginning   200 880 200 120

Purchases   15 613 0

Value-enhancing investments   1 198 164

Positive change in market value   2 131 1 410

Negative change in market value   –1 912 –814

Change in market value   219 596

Balance at the end of reporting period   217 910 200 880

valuation report
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5.2 Furnishing 

5.3 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

in CHF thousands Total   Office furnishing
and fittings

EDP

         

Acquisition costs        

Balance as of 1.4.18 208   108 100

Additions 0   0 0

Disposals 0   0 0

Balance as of 31.3.19 208   108 100

         

Additions 266   241 25

Disposals –47   –47 0

Balance as of 31.3.20 427   302 125

         

Accumulated depreciation        

Balance as of 1.4.18 165   69 96

Additions 19   17 2

Disposals 0   0 0

Balance as of 31.3.19 184   86 98

         

Additions 25   20 5

Disposals –45   –45 0

Balance as of 31.3.20 164   61 103

         

Net book value as of 31.3.20 263   241 22

Net book value as of 31.3.19 24   22 2

in CHF thousands   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

       

Deferred tax assets arising from:      

– Tax loss carry-forwards   895 1 066

– Other valuation differences   53 50

Total deferred tax assets as of year end   948 1 116

       

Deferred tax liabilities arising from:      

– Positive valuations of investment properties   13 861 13 219

– Other valuation differences   730 264

Total deferred tax liabilities as of year end   14 591 13 483

       

Net amounts as presented in balance sheet      

Presented deferred tax assets   0 50

Presented deferred tax liabilities   13 643 12 417

       

Net deferred tax liabilities      

Balance as of beginning   –12 367 –10 076

Deferred taxes recognized in profit & loss   –1 282 –2 306

Deferred taxes recognized in OCI   5 16

Balance as of year end   –13 643 –12 367
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5.4 Trade accounts receivable

5.5 Cash and cash equivalents

As of the balance sheet date, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of CHF 5.1 million (previous year CHF 6.1 
million).

5.6 Equity

Share capital

As of 31 March 2020 there were 3ʼ318ʼ027 shares issued with a nominal value of CHF 22.50, resulting in a share 
capital of kCHF 74ʼ656. There were no changes in capital structure in the financial years 2019/2020 and 2018/2019.

Treasury shares

in CHF thousands   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

       

Tax loss carry-forwards      

As of year end   192 577 267 579

Maturity within      

1 to 12 months   56 590 74 218

1 to 3 years   133 861 190 584

3 to 5 years   0 1 030

more than 5 years   2 126 1 747

without time limitation   0 0

Captialization:      

not capitalized   186 501 262 468

capitalized   6 076 5 111

in CHF thousands   31.3.2020   31.3.2019

    Accounts 
receivable

Value
adjustment

  Accounts
receivable

Value 
adjustment

             

Not yet due   38 0   8 0

< 30 days past due   230 0   39 0

30-60 days past due   3 0   0 0

61-90 days past due   3 0   2 0

91-180 days past due   3 0   0 0

181-360 days past due   0 0   0 0

Total   277 0   49 0

             

Total accounts receivable   277     49  

  Nuumber of treasury shares Treasury shares within equity in 
kCHF

     

Balance as of beginning of period 0 0

Purchase of own shares 11 217 –296

Sale of own shares –8 837 233

Balance as end of period 2 380 –63
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The company holds a total of 2,380 treasury shares as of 31 March 2020. In the 2019/2020 financial year, 11,217 
shares were purchased at prices between CHF 25.40 and CHF 27.00 and 8,837 shares were sold at prices between 
CHF 25.50 and CHF 27.20 in the period July 2019 to December 2019 under a market making mandate delegated to 
a Swiss investment bank. Treasury shares are reported as a negative item in equity at cost. As of 31 March 2020, 
this item amounted to kCHF 63.

No transactions with treasury shares took place in the previous financial year. 

Distribution from capital contribution reserves

The Annual General Meeting of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG on 18 June 2019 approved a distribution of CHF 1.00 
per registered share from the capital contribution reserves. This corresponds to a total amount of kCHF 3ʼ318. On 
24 June 2019, a distribution of kCHF 1ʼ936 was made in favour of the shareholders. As in the previous year the 
dividends attributable to Lamesa Holding SA were carried as a liability in the balancs sheet item “liabilities to 
participants".

5.7 Future contractual maturities

Based on the financial liabilities as of 31 March 2020 the following future contractual payment obligations exist 
(undiscounted amounts):

Trade accounts payable and the other short-term liabilities are incurred in the course of the Groupʼs operating 
activities and are covered by the short-term assets.

5.8 Financial instruments by category

The table below shows the book values and fair values in accordance with IFRS 13 of all financial instruments carried 
in the balance sheet. Since the book values of the financial assets at amortized cost and financial liabilities at 
amortized cost reflect in most cases a reasonable approximation of their fair value, the fair values are only separately 
listed below, if there are deviations from the book value. 

  Carrying value < 1 year 1 to 3 years 3 to 5 years > 5 years

in CHF thousands   interest amortisation interest amortisation interest amortisation interest amortisation

                   

As of 31.3.2020                  

Mortgages 72 836 511 0 749 73 000 0 0 0 0

Trade accounts payable 404 0 404 0 0 0 0 0 0

Liabilities to participants 2 764 0 2 764 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other short-term liabilities 936 0 936 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total financial liabilities as of 31.3.2020 76 938 511 4 103 749 73 000 0 0 0 0

                   

As of 31.3.2019                  

Mortgages 64 769 463 0 923 0 216 65 000 0 0

Trade accounts payable 441 0 441 0 0 0 0 0 0

Liabilities to participants 1 382 0 1 382 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other short-term liabilities 731 0 731 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total financial liabilities as of 31.3.2019 67 322 463 2 554 923 0 216 65 000 0 0
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The reported value of financial assets reflects the maximum default risk disregarding any collateral, in the event that 
the contractual partners fail to meet their payment obligations. No concentration of default risks arising from business 
relations with individual debtors or groups of debtors has been identified.

5.9 Mortgages 

As of 31 March 2020 Züblin Groupʼs real estate portfolio is financed entirely by one variable-rate loan. The amounts 
shown as mortgages in the balance sheet include closing fees of CHF 0.2 million (previous year CHF 0.2 million). 
These closing fees are also reflected in the calculation of the average effective interest rate. 

The mortgage includes financial covenants which specify, among other things, adherence to certain financial 
indicators (loan-to-value ratio and equity ratio). The financial covenants are summarized in the table below:

in CHF thousands   31.3.2020
Book value

31.3.2020
Fair Value

  31.3.2019
Book value

31.3.2019
Fair Value

Financial assets at amortized cost            

Trade accounts receivable   277     49  

Prepaid service charges   1 222     1 120  

Other current assets   190     532  

Cash and cash equivalents   5 074     6 120  

Total   6 763     7 821  

             

Financial liabilities at amortized 
cost            

Mortgages   72 836 73 000   64 769 65 000

Accrued interest   6     4  

Prepaid service charges   930     727  

Accounts payable   404     441  

Liabilities to participants   2 764     1 382  

Total   76 940     67 323  

Fair Value category level 2

1

1

In CHF thousands   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

       

Interest term structure      

1 to 12 months   73 000 65 000

1 to 3 years   0 0

3 to 5 years   0 0

More than 5 years   0 0

Total interest bearing debts   73 000 65 000

Average effective interest rate   1.01% 1.09%

Current interest rate   0.70% 0.70%

       

Contractual maturity dates of mortgages      

1 to 12 months   0 0

1 to 3 years   73 000 0

3 to 5 years   0 65 000

More than 5 years   0 0

Total   73 000 65 000

Average duration   2.5 3.5

       

Fair value of mortgages      

Variable rate mortgages   73 000 65 000

Total   73 000 65 000

   

Loan to value ≤ 60%

Equity ratio ≥ 10%
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Züblin monitors compliance with these covenants on a quarterly basis. The breach of a covenant may have a variety 
of consequences and can result among other consequences in a higher interest rate or a (partiall) repayment of the 
loan. If the LTV rises above 60%, the company has the opportunity to restore compliance with this financial 
covenant. The mortgage agreement also contains a “change of control” clause which stipulates the repayment of the 
entire loan if Züblin Immobilien Holding AG holds less than 50.1% of the voting rights or shares in the borrowing 
subsidiary. 

As of balance sheet date, the Company was in compliance with all of its covenants.

The table below summarizes the value of investment properties pledged as security for mortgages:

Insurance policies for investment properties have been pledged as security over and above the mortgage lines.

5.10 Pension liabilities

The Züblin Group has a defined benefit plan according to IAS 19 in Switzerland. In the past twelve months, 
expenditures totalling CHF 0.1 million (previous year CHF 0.1 million) for the defined benefit plan were recorded. 

Swiss pension schemes are governed by the Swiss Federal Law on Occupational Retirement, Survivorsʼ and 
Disability Pension Plans (BVG). The pension plan is financed by contributions from both employer and employees. 
The BVG requires pension schemes to be run as legally independent institutions. The pension scheme is headed by 
a board of trustees composed of an equal number of employer and employee representatives. It is responsible for 
determining and implementing the investment strategy.

The following amounts are based upon the Project Unit Credit Method:

The pension liabilities and assets changed as follows in the Züblin Groupʼs consolidated balance sheet:

In CHF thousands   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

       

Book value of assets pledged (investment properties)   201 640 200 880

Credit drawn (debt secured)   73 000 65 000

in CHF thousands   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

       

Pension liabilities (present value)   1 033 2 086

Pension assets at market value   781 1 848

Pension liabilities (technical deficit)   –252 –238
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The following table provides a break down of pension expenses: 

The remeasurement of the net pension obligation reported in other comprehensive income breaks down as follows:

The calculation of the Groupʼs pension liabilities is based on the following assumptions:

A sensitivity analysis was carried out using constant assumptions for the most important assumptions used to 
calculate the pension liabilities.

in CHF thousands   2019/20 2018/19

       

Pension liabilities (present value) at 1.4.   2 087 1 528

Current service costs   92 82

Employees' contributions   73 84

Interest expenses   9 14

Benefits (paid) / deposited   –653 212

Past service cost   0 –1

Others (Derecognition pensioner AXA Life)   –535 0

Actuarial gains/losses   –40 168

Pension liabilities (present value) at 31.3.   1 033 2 087

       

Pension assets at market value at 1.4.   1 847 1 322

Income on plan assets   7 12

Employer contributions   109 126

Employees' contributions   73 84

Benefits (paid) / deposited   –653 212

Others (Derecognition pensioner AXA Life)   –535 0

Actuarial gains/losses   –67 91

Pension assets at market value at 31.3.   781 1 847

in CHF thousands   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

       

Expected contribution in the coming year   76 71

       

Penison expense in the current period is comprised of the following items:      

– Current service cost   93 82

– Interest expense   2 2

– Past service cost   0 –1

Pension expenses   95 83

in CHF thousands   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

       

Actuarial gains (+) /losses on pension liabilities (-)   40 –168

Actuarial gains (+)/losses on plan assets (-)   –67 91

Defined Benefit Cost recognised in OCI   –27 –77

    31.3.2020 31.3.2019

       

Discount rate   0.50% 0.70%

Expected future salary increases   1.00% 1.00%

Expected future pension increases   0.00% 0.00%

Life expectancy in years at age of retirement (man/woman)   BVG 2015 GT BVG 2015 GT
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Asset allocation: 100% of the assets are managed and invested by a reinsurance company. Furthermore, the 
Company has insured a minimum return on its pension assets. Therefore, a detailed asset allocation is not 
presented.

5.11 Liabilities from long-term rental contracts

Züblin has entered into fixed rental commitments until 30 June 2020 in a total amount of CHF 0.0 million (previous 
year CHF 0.2 million). For the reporting period the rental payments recorded in the income statement amounted to 
CHF 0.2 million (previous year CHF 0.2 million).

5.12 Related parties

In accordance with IAS 24, related parties for the reporting financial year included:

Shareholdings by related parties as of 31 March 2020

Shareholdings by the Board of Directors and the Group Management are disclosed in detail in .

Transactions with related parties and significant shareholders

Unpaid Dividend to shareholder
As of 31 March 2020 the Züblin Group has open payables to Lamesa Holding SA resulting from unpaid dividends in 
the amount of CHF 2.8 Mio (see note 5.5). The payable shown in the balance sheet line “liabilities to participants” 
does not bare any interest. 

There were no other transactions with related parties or significant shareholders in financial year 2019/20. Nor were 
any advisory fees paid to related parties or significant shareholders over and above the remuneration disclosed in 

. The Board of Directors and Group Management continually monitors potential conflicts of interest.

Loans to members of governing bodies

No loans have been granted to members of the Board of Directors or the Züblin Group Management.

    31.3.2020 31.3.2019

       

Pension liabilities (present value) at 31.3.   1 033 2 087

– Discount rate -0.25%   1 081 2 161

– Discount rate +0.25%   989 2 018

– Expected salary increases -0.25%   1 031 2 083

– Expected salary increases +0.25%   1 037 2 090

– Life expectancy in years - 1 year   1 019 2 038

– Life expectancy in years + 1 year   1 047 2 135

in CHF thousands   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

       

Liabilities from long-term rental contracts      

1 to 12 months   41 162

1 to 3 years   0 40

3 to 5 years   0 0

more than 5 years   0 0

The Board of Directors•
Members of Züblin Group Management•
Lamesa Holding SA, Panama•

note 5.14

note 5.13
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5.13 Compensation

Compensation of the members of the Board of Directors

Compensation of the Executive Management

in CHF Basic
compensation

Total

     

Financial year 2019/20   

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Chairman 130 000 130 000

Vladislav Osipov, Member 70 000 70 000

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member 70 000 70 000

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik 25 000 25 000

Total Board of Directors 295 000 295 000

Compensation approved by the Annual General Meeting   550 000

     

Financial year 2018/19    

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, Chairman 100 000 100 000

Vladislav Osipov, Member 70 000 70 000

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member 70 000 70 000

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Member 70 000 70 000

Total Board of Directors 310 000 310 000

Compensation approved by the Annual General Meeting   550 000

As of 18.06.2019 elected chairman of the board, prior member
until 18.06.2019

1

2

2

1
2

in CHF   Basic
compensation

Bonus
in cash

  Employers contributions Total

Financial year 2019/20           

Roland Friederich, CEO (since 15.7.2019) / CFO   276 988 0  52 004 328 992

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, CEO (until 14.7.2019)   312 498 0  53 676 366 174

Total Group Management   589 486 0  105 680 695 166

Compensation approved by the Annual General Meeting          1 500 000

             

Financial year 2018/19           

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, CEO   507 813 250 000  109 390 867 203

Roland Friederich, CFO   220 000 110 000  51 029 381 029

Total Group Management   727 813 360 000  160 419 1 248 232

Compensation approved by the Annual General Meeting          1 800 000

thereof contribution to pension schemes (AHV, pension fund) CHF 82'586 (prior year: CHF 144'016)

1

1
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5.14 Shareholdings

  Number of shares

As of 31.3.2020  

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Chairman 1 800

Vladislav Osipov, Member 0

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member 63

Total Board of Directors 1 863

   

As of 31.3.2019  

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, Chairman 10 766

Vladislav Osipov, Member 0

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member 63

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Mitglied 0

Total Board of Directors 10 829

  Number of shares

As of 31.3.2020  

Roland Friederich, CEO/ CFO 100

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, CEO until 14.7.2019 0

Total Executive Management 100

   

As of 31.3.2019  

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, CEO 10 766

Roland Friederich, CFO 100

Total Executive Management 10 866
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6. SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS AND EVENTS

6.1 Events after the balance sheet date 

No significant events occured after the balance sheet date.
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EPRA PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The EPRA (European Public Real Estate Association) has developed Best Practice Recommendations for Reporting, 
Accounting and Corporate Governance in the listed real estate sector in recent years. The aim is to ensure 
consistency and transparency throughout the real estate sector. Züblin is a member of EPRA. In addition to the 
EPRA Performance Measures, Züblin is also disclosing a number of other company-specific figures.

A. EPRA Earnings per share

B. EPRA Equity and EPRA Equity ratio

in CHF thousands   1.4.2019
to 31.3.2020

1.4.2018
to 31.3.2019

       

Earnings of shareholders of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG   4 628 6 214

       

Adjustments:      

Change in market value of investment properties   –219 –596

Deferred taxes in respect of EPRA Earnings adjustments   642 697

Currency differences   106 124

EPRA Earnings of shareholders   5 157 6 439

       

Average number of outstanding shares   3 316 303 3 318 027

EPRA Earnings per share   1.56 1.94

in CHF thousands   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

       

Number of outstanding shares at balance sheet date   3 315 647 3 318 027

       

Equity of shareholders   132 969 131 744

Equity per share   40.10 39.71

       

Equity of shareholders   132 969 131 744

Adjustments:      

Deferred taxes on investment properties   13 861 13 219

EPRA Net Asset Value (NAV) of shareholders   146 830 144 963

EPRA NAV per share   44.28 43.69

       

EPRA Equity   146 830 144 963

Total Assets   224 936 213 815

EPRA Equity ratio   65.3% 67.8%

P/84    Annual Report 2019/20 Züblin Immobilien Holding AG

(courtesy translation – legally binding is the German version of the Annual Report)



  FINANCIAL REPORT  

C. EPRA Triple Net Asset Value (NNNAV)

D. EPRA Net Yield Disclosure

E.1 EPRA Vacancy Rate monetary

E.2 Züblin Vacancy Rate monetary

in CHF thousands   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

       

EPRA Net Asset Value (NAV) of shareholders   146 830 144 963

Adjustments:      

Deferred taxes (net)   –13 861 –13 219

Deviation to fair value of mortgages   –164 –231

EPRA NNNAV   132 805 131 513

Number of outstanding shares at balance sheet date   3 318 027 3 318 027

EPRA NNNAV per share   40.03 39.64

in CHF thousands   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

       

Gross-up valuation of Investment properties available for lease (A)   217 910 200 880

       

Annualized rental income investment properties available for lease (B)   9 444 8 189

Property expenses   –911 –736

Annualized net rental income (C)   8 533 7 453

Adjustment for lease incentives   n.a. n.a.

"Topped-up" Annualized net rental income (D)   8 533 7 453

       

EPRA Gross Initial Yield (GIY) (B/A)   4.3% 4.1%

EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY) (C/A)   3.9% 3.7%

EPRA "topped-up" NIY (D/A)   3.9% 3.7%

in CHF thousands   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

       

Annualized market rental income of vacant space (A)   841 954

Annualized market rental value of the whole portfolio (B)   9 472 8 506

EPRA Vacancy rate (A/B)   8.9% 10.7%

in CHF thousands   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

       

       

Annualized rental income of vacant space (A)   841 914

Annualized rental income of the whole portfolio (B)   10 285 9 103

Züblin Vacancy rate (A/B)   8.2% 10.0%
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INCOME STATEMENT 

in CHF thousands Notes   1.4.2019
to 31.3.2020

1.4.2018
to 31.3.2019

         

Financial income 2   782 819

Income from value adjustments on non-current assets     0 92

Currency translation adjustments     27 360

Total income     809 1 271

         

Other operating expenses     –1 552 –2 421

Financial expense     0 –37

Total expenses     –1 552 –2 458

         

Earnings before taxes (EBT)     –743 –1 187

Income taxes     0 0

Earnings     –743 –1 187

Information contained in the notes to the annual financial statements is an integral part of the annual financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEET 

in CHF thousands Notes   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

         

Current assets        

Cash     872 1 656

Other current receivables     22 107

Prepaid expenses     78 80

Total current assets     972 1 843

        

Non-Current assets       

Financial Assets 4   50 669 52 769

Investments 3   82 332 82 332

Total non-current assets     133 001 135 101

         

Total assets     133 973 136 944

in CHF thousands Notes   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

         

Liabilities        

Trade payables     16 17

Other current liabilities     0 47

Other current liabilities Group companies 7   1 105 1 138

Liabilities to participants 8   2 764 1 382

Accrued expenses     195 343

Current liabilities     4 080 2 927

         

Total liabilities     4 080 2 927

        

Equity        

Share capital 5   74 656 74 656

Statutory capital reserves     163 922 167 240

Voluntary Reserves        

- Retained loss 6   –107 879 –106 692

- Earnings from the period     –743 –1 187

Treasury shares 5   –63 0

Total equity     129 893 134 017

         

Total equity and liabilities     133 973 136 944

Information contained in the notes to the annual financial statements is an integral part of the annual financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Principles

General

Züblin Immobilien Holding AG, Zurich (ZIHAG) is the parent company of the Züblin Immobilien Group. As a holding 
company it is not engaged in any operating activities. Its function is limited to the managing and financing of the 
Züblin Immobilien Group. As of 31 March 2020 Züblin Immobilien Group does employ 5 employees (previous year 8 
employees). 

Acounting law

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Swiss Code of Obligation (Title 32 
of the Swiss Code of Obligations (hereafter: CO)). ZIHAG prepares consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Therefore and in accordance with 961d CO ZIHAG has 
decided to forego presenting additional information on interest-bearing liabilities and audit fees in the notes as well as 
a cashflow statement and management report.

Group companies are all companies in which ZIHAG directly or indirectly has more than 20% of the voting rights or 
over which it exerts a significant influence.

The significant accounting policies, which are not prescribed by law, are described below.

Financial Assets

Financial Assets include long-term loans granted to Group companies. Loans granted in foreign currency are valued 
at the closing rate, with unrealized losses recorded in the income statement, whereas unrealized gains are not 
recognized.

Investments

Investments are stated at cost less any provisions for impairment.

Interest-bearing liabilities (current and non-current)

Interest-bearing liabilities are stated at their nominal value. Prepaid interest and issue costs are recorded in prepaid 
expenses and amortized on a straight-line basis over the respective term.

Exchange rates

2. Financial Income

Financial income of CHF 0.8 million (previous period CHF 0.8 million) comprises of interest earned on loans to Group 
companies.

in CHF   Balance sheet rate Balance sheet rate   Average rate Average rate

    31.3.2020 31.3.2019   1.4.2019
to 31.3.2020

1.4.2018
to 31.3.2019

             

1 EUR   1.0588 1.1181   1.0961 1.1468
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3. Investments

Any uncertainties in connection with the COVID 19 pandemic do not require any additional value adjustments on the 
investments.

4. Financial Assets

Loans to group companies

ZIHAG has granted to Züblin Immobilien AG a loan in the amount of CHF 50.7 million (previous year: 52.8 million). 
The interest on the loan is currently 1.5% and is in line with the maximum interest rate according to the rules issued 
annually by the Swiss Federal Tax Administration regarding interest on intercompany loans.

The loan granted to Züblin Real Estate Holding NV (ZREH) was almost fully written off in previous years. According to 
the loan agreement between ZIHAG and ZREH interest claim was waived until a financial improvement of the 
company becomes apparent. 

5. Share Capital

As of 31 March 2020 there were 3ʼ318ʼ027 shares with a nominal value of CHF 22.50, resulting in a share capital of 
kCHF 74ʼ656. There were no changes in capital structure in the financial years 2019/20 and 2018/19.

The company holds a total of 2,380 treasury shares as of 31 March 2020. In the 2019/2020 financial year, 11,217 
shares were purchased at prices between CHF 25.40 and CHF 27.00 and 8,837 shares were sold at prices between 
CHF 25.50 and CHF 27.20 in the period July 2019 to December 2019 under a market making mandate delegated to 
a Swiss investment bank. Treasury shares are reported as a negative item in equity at cost. As of 31 March 2020, 
this item amounted to CHF 63,119. 

Name Location Currency
Capital

  31.3.2020
Ownership in 

Capital / 
Votes

Capital 31.3.2019
Ownership in 

Capital / 
Votes

               

Züblin Immobilien AG Zurich CHF 270 000   100.0% 270 000 100.0%

Officiis Properties Paris EUR 0   0.0% 30 621 699 29.0%

ZUB Immobilien GmbH Düsseldorf EUR 50 000   100.0% 50 000 100.0%

Weilimmo AG Zurich CHF 1 000 000   100.0% 1 000 000 0.0%

Züblin Real Estate Holding NV Diemen EUR 10 213 817   100.0% 10 213 817 100.0%

Züblin Immobilière Belgium SA Brussels EUR 200 753   100.0% 200 753 100.0%

Former Züblin Immobilière France SA; in FY 19/20 all shares were sold by exercising the call option granted in 2015

1

1

in CHF thousands

Group company

  Transaction 
Currency

Interest rate 31.3.2020 31.3.2019

           

Züblin Immobilien AG   CHF 1.50% 50 669 52 769

Total Switzerland       50 669 52 769

           

Züblin Real Estate Holding NV   EUR 0.00% 52 470 55 409

Züblin Real Estate Holding NV - allowance   EUR 0.00% –52 470 –55 409

Currency translation adjustments       0 0

Total Netherlands       0 0

           

Total       50 669 52 769
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Authorized share capital amounts to kCHF 37ʼ328, which represents 1ʼ659ʼ013 shares. The authorized share 
capital was prolonged by the general assembly held on 18.6.2019 until 18.6.2021.

Conditional share capital available for stock option plan was authorized at EGM held on 29.10.2015 and amounts 
to kCHF 3ʼ700, which represents 164ʼ444 shares.

6. Retained loss and earnings for the year

7. Other current liabilities Group companies

The liabilities to group companies relate to a current account liability to Weilimmo AG in the amount of CHF 1,078k 
and current account liabilities to Züblin Immobilien AG in the amount of CHF 27k.

8. Liabilities to participants

As at 31 March 2020, ZIHAG had outstanding liabilities to Lamesa Holding SA from outstanding dividends in the 
amount of CHFk 2ʼ764 (previous year: CHFk 1ʼ382). The liability is not interest-bearing.

9. Contingent liabilities

As in the previous year, there were no contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date, neither to related parties nor to 
third parties.

in CHF thousands   31.3.2020 31.3.2019

       

Retained loss previous year available to AGM   –107 879 –110 101

Offset of retained loss with other reserves   0 3 410

Balance brought forward   –107 879 –106 692

Earnings from financial year   –743 –1 187

Retained loss   –108 622 –107 879
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10. Significant shareholders

Number of issued shares in the Commercial Register as of 31 March 2020: 3ʼ318ʼ027

As of 31 March 2020 Züblin Immobilien Holding AG is aware of the following shareholders with holdings exceeding a 
disclosure threshold:

11. Shareholdings

Shareholdings of the Board of Directors

Shareholdings of the Group Management

Direct / indirect shareholder   31.3.2020

     

     

Lamesa Holding SA, Panama (Viktor Vekselberg  )   41.65%

Ketom AG, Zug (Norbert Ketterer  )   5.55%

Special Themes SCC Ltd., Valetta, Malta; Wiederkehr Associates Funds ("WAF") SICAV-SIF, Luxembourg, Luxembourg (PMG Fonds 
Management AG, Zürich  )   3.86%

Group of shareholders: Wiederkehr Associates AG, Zurich, Dr. Hans-Rudolf and Ursula Schärli   3.68%

Person with beneficial ownership / authorised to exercise voting rights.
Wiederkehr Associates AG represents an organized group of shareholders regarding the agreement to exercise voting rights in accordance with article 120 f. of the Financial Market 
Infrastructure Act (FinMIA) - consisting of the beneficial owners or persons authorized to exercise voting rights - Wiederkehr Associates AG and Hans-Rudolf and Ursula Schärli. The group 
owns 3.68 % of the total voting rights, of which 3.01 % were transferred by a third party for the purpose of exercising voting rights at their own discretion. (Report dated 31 March 2020).

1

1

1

2

1
2

  Number of shares

As of 31.3.2020  

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Chairman 1 800

Vladislav Osipov, Member 0

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member 63

Total Board of Directors 1 863

   

As of 31.3.2019  

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, Chairman 10 766

Vladislav Osipov, Member 0

Dr. Markus Wesnitzer, Member 63

Dr. Wolfgang Zürcher, Mitglied 0

Total Board of Directors 10 829

  Number of shares

As of 31.3.2020  

Roland Friederich, CEO/ CFO 100

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, CEO until 14.7.2019 0

Total Executive Management 100

   

As of 31.3.2019  

Dr. Iosif Bakaleynik, CEO 10 766

Roland Friederich, CFO 100

Total Executive Management 10 866
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12. Joint and several liabilities

Züblin Immobilien Holding AG belongs to a VAT group and is jointly and severally liable with Züblin Immobilien AG for 
the VAT payments arising from this VAT Groupʼs activities. 

13. Net release of hidden reserves

As in the previous year no hidden reserves were released In the financial year 2019/2020. 

14. Events after the balance sheet date

No significant events have taken place since the balance sheet date.
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PROPOSAL OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
FOR THE APPROPRIATION OF RETAINED 

LOSSES AND PROPOSAL OF 
THE DISTRIBUTION FROM STATUTORY 

CAPITAL RESERVES

The Board of Directors proposes to carry forward retained loss to the next period and to distribute CHF 1.00 per 
registered share (Namenaktie) from capital reserves. This corresponds to a payout yield of 3.6% based on the share 
price on the balance sheet date. This changes the composition of the statutory capital reserve as follows:

in CHF   31.3.2020

     

Retained loss    

Brought forward from previous year   –107 878 924.90

Earnings from financial year   –742 814.00

Retained loss available to AGM   –108 621 738.90

     

Approbation    

Carry forward to the next period   –108 621 738.90

in CHF   31.3.2020

     

Statutory capital reserves at the beginning of the financial year   163 922 045.18

Distribution to the shareholders   –3 318 027.00

Statutory capital reserves at the end of the financial year   160 604 018.18
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DEFINITION OF TERMS

Income statement

EBITDA: Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) excluding net changes in market value of investment properties, 
result from the sale of investment properties and depreciation.

EPRA Earnings: Earnings excluding net changes in market value of investment properties, result from the sale of 
investment properties, changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments and non-controlling interests.

EPRA Return on equity: Ratio of earnings to the EPRA Net Asset Value at the beginning of the financial year 
adjusted for any dividends and/or capital transactions.

Balance sheet

Market value of investment properties: The market value of investment properties as assessed by independent 
external real estate appraisers. In Germany after deduction of the transaction costs payable on a sale.

EPRA Equity: Equity excluding fair value of derivative financial instruments and the net amount of deferred taxes.

EPRA Equity of shareholders: EPRA Equity excluding non-controlling interests.

EPRA Equity Ratio: Ratio of EPRA Equity to total assets.

Key figures per share

Number of outstanding shares: Number of shares of Züblin Immobilien Holding AG in issue less treasury shares. 
In the case of figures relating to the balance sheet the number of treasury shares at the balance sheet date is 
deducted, while in the case of the income statement, the average number of treasury shares is used.

EPRA Earnings: EPRA Earnings divided by average number of outstanding shares.

EPRA Net Asset Value (NAV): EPRA Net Asset Value of the shareholders of ZIHAG divided by the average number 
of outstanding shares.

EPRA Triple Net Asset Value (NNNAV): EPRA Net Asset Value of the shareholders of ZIHAG less the fair value of 
derivative financial instruments, the net amount of deferred taxes and the difference between the fair value and cost 
of mortgages divided by the number of outstanding shares at the balance sheet date.

Portfolio

Annualized rental income:  Annualized rental income based on the contractual rents passing at the balance sheet 
date. This amount does not include any recoverable costs which can be charged to tenants.

Annualized gross rental income: Annualized rental income of vacant space based at market rent at balance sheet 
date added to annualized rental income.

Estimated market rental value (ERV): All rentable space of the whole portfolio calculated at market rent.

Analysis of the various yields on rental income
Investment properties available for lease: Investment properties excluding redevelopment projects and 
investment properties held for sale.

EPRA Gross Initial Yield: Ratio of annual rental income of investment properties available for lease to the 
investment properties available for lease as of the balance sheet date.

EPRA Net Initial Yield: Ratio of annual rental income excluding real estate expenses and maintenance and repairs 
of investment properties available for lease to the market value of the investment properties available for lease 
inclusive of the estimated sale transaction costs as of the balance sheet date. 

Analysis of the vacancy levels
Estimated annual rental income of vacant space: Vacant space in m2 calculated at market rent.
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Züblin Vacancy rate: The estimated annual rental income of vacant space divided by the projected annual rental 
income. 

EPRA Vacancy rate: The estimated annual rental income of vacant space divided by the estimated market rental 
value of the whole portfolio.

Vacancy rate (m2): Vacant space as of the balance sheet date divided by the rentable space.
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